          1

          2  CITY COUNCIL

          3

             CITY OF NEW YORK

          4

             -------------------------------x

          5

             THE TRANSCRIPT OF THE MINUTES

          6

                       of the

          7

             COMMITTEE ON GENERAL WELFARE

          8

             -------------------------------x

          9

         10                 May 5, 2003

                            Start:  10:15 a.m.

         11                 Recess: 1:05 p.m.

         12                 City Hall

                            250 Broadway, 14th Floor

         13                 New York, New York

         14

                  B E F O R E:

         15

                         BILL DeBLASIO

         16                                Chairperson,

         17

                         COUNCIL MEMBERS:   Bill Perkins

         18                                 Christine Quinn

                                            Gale Brewer

         19                                 Larry Seabrook

                                            Jose Serrano

         20                                 Kendall Stewart

                                            Diana Reyna

         21                                 Eric Dilan

         22

         23

         24       LEGAL-EASE COURT REPORTING SERVICES, INC.

                         17 Battery Place -  Suite 1308

         25              New York, New York 10004

                              (800) 756-3410

                                                            2

          1

          2  A P P E A R A N C E S

          3

             Linda Gibbs

          4  Commissioner

             Homeless Services

          5

             Roseanne Haggerty

          6  Common Ground Community

          7  Frank Braconi

             Citizens Housing and Planning Council

          8

             Nadine Whitted

          9  Community Board No. 4, Brooklyn

         10  James A. Bowens

             Community Board No. 16, Brooklyn

         11

             Theresa Cianciotta

         12  Community Planning Board No. 1

         13  Jose Leon

             East Williamsburg Valley Industrial Development Corp

         14

             Michael Rochford

         15  Executive Director

             St. Nicholas NPC

         16

             Horale Foster, Jr.

         17  Harlem Crisis Committee

         18

         19

         20

         21

         22

         23

         24

         25

                                                            3

          1  COMMITTEE ON GENERAL WELFARE

          2                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Good morning,

          3  and welcome to this General Welfare Committee

          4  hearing. Today we're doing an oversight hearing

          5  related to the Department of Homeless Services, and

          6  particularly looking at the issue of shelter siting,

          7  both the decisions around siting and the

          8  implementation. And this hearing was inspired by a

          9  resolution by my colleague Council Member Eric

         10  Martin Dilan. I want to thank him for his

         11  leadership. He obviously is working from the

         12  perspective of someone who's community is deeply

         13  affected, but he is also trying to bring a balanced

         14  approach to this question Citywide, and I think it's

         15  time that we foster some public debate and make sure

         16  we understand how the process works and how we can

         17  best respond to the needs of communities.

         18                 I just want to say, we've had

         19  numerous opportunities to hear from the

         20  Commissioner. I know she has a very tough job, this

         21  is a crisis that continues to grow, and I don't

         22  belittle for a moment the difficulty the

         23  Commissioner and the Department faces in keeping up

         24  with the growth in homelessness. We've talked a lot

         25  in this Committee about our belief that we can do
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          2  more on the prevention front, seen some promising

          3  signs lately from the Administration on that front,

          4  but in any event, the numbers continue to grow, if I

          5  have my facts straight approximately 13 new

          6  facilities have been opened in the last six or seven

          7  months and another 24 are planned by the end of the

          8  upcoming fiscal year.

          9                 So, obviously, it's going to put

         10  quite a strain on communities and making sure we're

         11  making these choices properly and communicating with

         12  the communities properly is crucial.

         13                 Before we call up the Commissioner,

         14  I'd like to give an opportunity to the sponsor of

         15  this resolution to say a few words, Council Member

         16  Eric Martin Dilan.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER DILAN: Thank you, Mr.

         18  Chairman, and good morning.

         19                 I'd like to thank you for taking upon

         20  this important oversight issue, which requires the

         21  Department of Homeless Shelter -- of Homeless

         22  Services by Charter mandate to give to the New York

         23  City Council their five-year plan on how they are to

         24  deal with the homeless situation within the City of

         25  New York.
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          2                 Within this plan, the Department is

          3  required to give to the Council, one, the total

          4  number of homeless throughout the City of New York,

          5  which we do have at this time, but there are some

          6  other items that we do not have, and those are some

          7  of the items that we're looking to find out from

          8  Commissioner Gibbs today.

          9                 One of them that is required by

         10  Charter is the amount of capital construction that

         11  the Department will undertake and it's supposed to

         12  be a comprehensive Citywide plan so we can begin to

         13  take a look at how the homeless situation is being

         14  dealt with Citywide. And Mr. Chairman, again, I

         15  would like to thank you for taking on this hearing.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Thank you,

         17  Council member. I also want to welcome Council

         18  Member Diana Reyna, whose community is also deeply

         19  affected by this situation.

         20                 And, Commissioner, we now welcome you

         21  to step forward, and we welcome your testimony.

         22                 COMMISSIONER GIBBS: Thank you. I'm

         23  only used to the 20th century contraptions you have

         24  over at City Hall, I don't know how to use this one.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: It's on.

                                                            6

          1  COMMITTEE ON GENERAL WELFARE

          2                 COMMISSIONER GIBBS: It's on? It's

          3  working? You don't have to do anything, that's the

          4  other miracle of the 21st Century? Okay, great.

          5                 Good morning. I'm glad to be here

          6  this morning, to share with you the current

          7  strategies that DHS is putting in place to end

          8  homelessness for the thousands of individuals and

          9  families who are experiencing the trauma of being

         10  without a home in our City.

         11                 Before I start I want to emphasize

         12  that the homeless shelter system is not just a

         13  passive partner in this phenomenon. Our policies

         14  have a great effect on whether people will become

         15  homeless and how long they stay homeless.

         16                 Only by recognizing this, and

         17  affirmatively obligating ourselves to ensure that we

         18  have done everything within our power to end

         19  homelessness, can we say that our job has been

         20  faithfully executed.

         21                 The homeless population in New York

         22  continues to rise. We have 38,500 people in shelter

         23  today. This includes 9,250 families, and almost

         24  17,000 children. The growth continues a three-year

         25  trend in the surge of new applicants for shelter
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          2  services.

          3                 We've attached a daily report that

          4  shows both family and single shelter population,

          5  which is a separate attachment and gives a detail of

          6  the population.

          7                 I copied here in our testimony the

          8  family trend chart where we have really seen the

          9  greatest growth in shelter demand, and so you can

         10  see over the successive years how the population has

         11  started an incline over two years ago, and has

         12  really surged in the past two years.

         13                 At the same time, the growth in need

         14  for more shelter beds has been slowed. So, if you

         15  look from October through to March of this year, you

         16  can see how that growth on the family system has

         17  slowed down somewhat.

         18                 This is the direct result of

         19  concerted efforts on the part of DHS, partner City

         20  agencies, shelter providers and families to move

         21  with greater urgency to locate housing for shelter

         22  ending their homelessness.

         23                 There has been a 70 percent increase

         24  in the number of my clients who are leaving

         25  homelessness to move to permanent housing compared
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          2  to this time last year.

          3                 This represents, and there's an error

          4  in the testimony here, the actual number. This

          5  represents 1,700 additional families now in

          6  permanent housing, year-to-date this year, compared

          7  to year-to-date last year. The total of 4,889 this

          8  year, compared to 3,177 this time last year.

          9                 This didn't just happen, it required

         10  planning, resources, coordination and perseverance

         11  to assist a complex social services system to move

         12  in an intended direction.

         13                 It reflects the fact that the shelter

         14  provider system had lost sight of the mission to

         15  solve homelessness as it served our clients in their

         16  need while they were homeless.

         17                 This resolve to recommit to solve

         18  homelessness was set out in the strategic plan

         19  released by DHS one year ago, which marked the

         20  change in the way that DHS serves our clients.

         21                 This agency determined that we would

         22  not continue business as usual. Rather, we decided

         23  we would take affirmative steps to end homelessness

         24  by focusing on aggressive prevention and permanency

         25  strategies. The work on permanency has already shown
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          2  results and we expect further improvement.

          3                 The following chart shows three

          4  scenarios: Where we would be if DHS had not

          5  undertaken the planning to improve permanency; where

          6  we are now, given the improvements already in place;

          7  and where we hope to be with further improvements in

          8  the next year.

          9                 To looking on the next page. If we

         10  had continued without these efforts, our, the growth

         11  in the shelter, the family shelter system, would

         12  have us by next July at 13,165 families. That just

         13  continuing all of the patterns for all of the

         14  experience in the family shelter system.

         15                 Where we are right now is a continued

         16  growth but turning the corner in this fall, and by

         17  this time next year we should see ourselves at 9,000

         18  families, fewer than are in shelter today.

         19                 We are not resting with the existing

         20  level of improvement, and we are really pushing

         21  ourselves and pushing our providers to work to make

         22  further improvements beyond those that we've already

         23  achieved, and if we're able to do that, we would see

         24  a shelter system, I hope, next summer, of 7,500

         25  families.
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          2                 So, as a result of these efforts, we

          3  would expect by this time next year that we would

          4  have 3,250 fewer families in homeless shelters than

          5  would otherwise have been the case.

          6                 Our work on prevention is now just

          7  beginning. Right now the City spends over $30

          8  million in contracted preventive services among four

          9  separate agencies, with little coordination,

         10  evaluation or outcome measurement.

         11                 Our hope is to change that, by

         12  bringing the same management focus to preventive

         13  services that we've brought to permanency so we can

         14  better serve our clients by preventing their

         15  homelessness.

         16                 To that end, I am pleased to announce

         17  today that with the approval of the Council at

         18  budget adoption, funds will be transferred from HRA

         19  to DHS, the City's Human Resources Administration,

         20  to the Department of Homeless Services, for homeless

         21  prevention services.

         22                 Furthermore, HPD and the Criminal

         23  Justice Coordinator's Office are equally in

         24  agreement to have programs they manage transferred

         25  to DHS if the Council confers with the
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          2  Administration that a central coordination by the

          3  Homeless Services Agency offers promise for

          4  improving the effectiveness of preventive

          5  strategies.

          6                 Whereas DHS has had no formal role in

          7  homelessness prevention in the past, this agency

          8  would serve to coordinate a new one-City approach to

          9  homeless prevention moving forward.

         10                 This would be a significant

         11  development for us, both symbolically and

         12  programmatically.

         13                 I have every expectation that better

         14  planning and coordination will help us to better

         15  serve our clients by meeting their needs before the

         16  crisis makes them homeless. The approach must be a

         17  community-based approach. Just ten communities in

         18  New York City account for the majority of

         19  homelessness. They are communities with high

         20  incidences of poverty, and a great shortage of

         21  affordable housing. They are also communities that

         22  disproportionately seek shelter in response to their

         23  need.

         24                 We need to understand how we can

         25  intervene to prevent their homelessness and maintain
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          2  safe, affordable housing.

          3                 This change will take time but my

          4  desire is to see the same decline in the number of

          5  new applicants to shelter, as we have seen in

          6  increases from shelter to permanent housing.

          7                 For the short-term I do expect to see

          8  further growth in the shelter system this summer.

          9                 As you are familiar, the summer

         10  months are the months of the greatest demand for

         11  family shelter. We will see 2,500 new applicants

         12  each month over the summer, compared to 1,900 a

         13  month this spring.

         14                 While the numbers of my clients who

         15  are leaving shelter for permanent housing are making

         16  room in shelter for new applicants, it is not enough

         17  to meet demand.

         18                 As a result, we are planning to open

         19  600 new units of family shelter in the next two

         20  months to be prepared to meet the summer surge.

         21                 I have expressed the following goals

         22  in opening new facilities. I prefer Tier II

         23  facilities over hotel capacity, as well as the use

         24  of buildings that are not currently in residential

         25  use, and that are close to the communities in need
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          2  of shelter services.

          3                 I have also made it clear that a

          4  distribution among communities must be achieved so

          5  that no one community disproportionately bears the

          6  burden of new shelter facility openings.

          7                 The capacity that we're bringing on

          8  will be Tier II family shelters with contracts with

          9  the City. They will be run by existing

         10  community-based providers familiar with the

         11  communities being served, and the need, and they

         12  will be in buildings and units whose prior use was

         13  not for housing. And the renovation in preparation

         14  for shelter is bringing these vacant properties back

         15  into use.

         16                 The facilities are also in

         17  communities with great demand for shelter services.

         18  As we bring on capacity to meet demand, DHS reviews

         19  facilities brought to our attention by providers. We

         20  do not accept every facility suggested, but we are

         21  extremely limited in our ability to do this for

         22  primary reasons that we must satisfy the core

         23  mission of our agency to ensure a bed to every

         24  person who requests one on the day of their request.

         25                 I understand the challenge presented
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          2  in communities where new shelters are opening. There

          3  is a great deal of fear of the unknown that we

          4  routinely see. As a result, DHS works in advance of

          5  shelter openings through our providers to reach out

          6  to local elected officials and community boards to

          7  prepare for shelter opening.

          8                 We meet with communities whenever

          9  they request and meet on an ongoing basis with

         10  community boards while shelters are in operation.

         11                 Shelters have community advisory

         12  boards that meet frequently to inform communities of

         13  shelter activities and to respond to any concerns

         14  that may arise. We will continue keeping these lines

         15  of communication open moving forward.

         16                 As has been the case every year for

         17  the past ten years, DHS will continually meet the

         18  daily demand and ensure safe and appropriate shelter

         19  for every person in need.

         20                 If we continue to do that and only

         21  that, however, the homeless population will continue

         22  to grow.

         23                 We need to make time in our days and

         24  on our agenda to implement aggressive prevention and

         25  permanency strategies. We need to say that it is our
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          2  job to solve homelessness, not just to serve it.

          3                 Thank you.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Thank you,

          5  Commissioner.

          6                 I just want to ask you a question or

          7  two before turning it over to my colleagues.

          8                 There's obviously several different

          9  issues running through this discussion, one of them

         10  is the decision-making process around siting.

         11  Another is how you relate to the community once a

         12  siting decision has been made.

         13                 So let me just stay on the former for

         14  now. I'm concerned that there is not coordination

         15  between the different agencies of the City when it

         16  comes to the question of siting, what I'll just call

         17  loosely, social service facilities. And, so, what

         18  I'm trying to understand is, if in the interest of a

         19  fair share approach, how do you work with

         20  Administration for Children's Services or HRA or

         21  Department of Health or whoever it may be, to

         22  understand what they have present in a community

         23  already and what they're planning to have present in

         24  a community to determine whether it's appropriate to

         25  go forward with a particular location?
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          2                 COMMISSIONER GIBBS: I think it's fair

          3  to say that the City in the past did not have a

          4  practice of doing that coordination, and in the past

          5  year the Social Service commissioners of the City,

          6  which of course doesn't include the State agencies,

          7  which also have individual siting decisions that

          8  impact communities, but the Social Service

          9  Commissioners of the City agencies have been meeting

         10  together and have identified on our agenda an effort

         11  to understand the needs and the activities of our

         12  agencies, and with some support from folks in City

         13  Hall trying to pull together those so that we can

         14  make the kind of assessment that you suggest.

         15                 At the same time I need to recognize

         16  that there are not resources available to most other

         17  agencies to identify and bring new services on line,

         18  so that I think I might be an exceptional

         19  circumstance in that the resources are available to

         20  the Department to meet the growing demand for

         21  shelter services.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Well, I guess I

         23  asked the question in two parts, I want to make sure

         24  I understand fully. What exists currently as one

         25  issue to look at, what is coming in is another. So,
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          2  for example, if you were looking at a particular

          3  neighborhood that had a number of different

          4  facilities, DHS, ACS, HRA, City, State, whatever it

          5  may be in combination, I guess I'm trying to

          6  understand, is there a situation -- let me ask it in

          7  the negative, is there a situation where you're

          8  process could lead you to say, or the Mayor's Office

          9  could end up saying this is an over-saturated

         10  community?

         11                 COMMISSIONER GIBBS: In going through

         12  the process of reviewing sites for new shelter

         13  facilities, I look at the facility being offered, I

         14  look at the most recent shelter openings to

         15  understand whether or not the community is being

         16  asked to really accommodate a number of new

         17  facilities or one or two new facilities. I take into

         18  account the current number of facilities in the

         19  community, the appropriateness of the new one being

         20  offered, and make a judgment as to whether or not

         21  it's an appropriate facility to add to our capacity.

         22                 In most cases the answer is yes. The

         23  scenario of the past year, there have been very few

         24  circumstances where I have been in a position to say

         25  that a new facility being offered does not meet the
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          2  need.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Last question,

          4  and I'll probably have some follow-ups in a little

          5  bit, in effect this is not a -- I'm trying to use a

          6  word that's not too biased; this is not a rigid

          7  system? In other words, you aren't working with a

          8  matrix or a scale of impact on the community where,

          9  for example, if you saw there were ten other

         10  facilities that would be considered difficult for a

         11  community to have, that you don't have like a

         12  numerical scale that says, okay, this is clearly

         13  numerically over-saturated, this is really

         14  ultimately a judgment call of yours based on the

         15  information you have; is that correct?

         16                 COMMISSIONER GIBBS: That's correct.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: I would just

         18  say for the record, I'm sure my colleagues have a

         19  lot to say on this, I think we need to think about,

         20  and this is something the Council should be in touch

         21  with you about, how do we perhaps make that a

         22  somewhat more numerical objective system, simply

         23  because I think some of the communities that are

         24  feeling the burden might have more faith in the

         25  system that was transparent in the sense of ongoing
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          2  consistent criteria, and that it could be explained

          3  that something that was treated the same way in each

          4  and every instance.

          5                 COMMISSIONER GIBBS: And I wouldn't in

          6  fact even go further than that to say that we need

          7  to make an assessment as to whether or not the

          8  services are aligned to the community need, and one

          9  of the goals that I've shared with you in the past

         10  around shelter services is to have the shelters be

         11  community-based and serve the families in their

         12  communities, so that children don't have to move far

         13  from home, and so their school isn't disrupted,

         14  they're more likely to be able to stay in their

         15  school and their home community and less likely to

         16  have to miss school that occurs when a school

         17  transfer happens.

         18                 So, I think both that transparency,

         19  plus the planning so that there is a sense of

         20  relationship of the service to the need, and all

         21  within a system that has to continue to reflect the

         22  mission of the agency that is to provide shelter in

         23  sufficient amount to meet the demand, and that will

         24  continue, I mean that is our core mission, and that

         25  will continue to be the pressing need.
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          2                 That doesn't mean that we can't plan

          3  and be transparent at the same time.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: I appreciate

          5  that spirit, and I do fully understand the core

          6  mission, and I appreciate, let me just put my cards

          7  on the table, the last thing we want to do in this

          8  discussion is to suggest that we could ever slow

          9  down or diminish our efforts to serve the homeless.

         10  This is not about the effort we have to make. I

         11  think you'll note, and at time of great austerity,

         12  you have not heard any negative feeling from the

         13  City Council about the kind of budget increases you

         14  need to keep up with the demand. There has been no

         15  grandstanding, there has been no cheap shots, we

         16  understand that we support it, but that's a

         17  different question than how you make siting

         18  decisions and how you deal with the community, and I

         19  would simply say I understand in many cases we do

         20  want social services to be neighborhood-based, and

         21  that's certainly been a positive trend, I think at

         22  the same time when you have a community that is

         23  objectively oversaturated, it does raise a question

         24  about whether the neighborhood-based concept should

         25  be entirely the mantra, because for a lot of
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          2  communities they are fighting back from decades of

          3  difficulty and neglect, and the impact of the siting

          4  of these facilities can have a negative impact on

          5  economic development and other trends.

          6                 So, the point is simply to see it in

          7  more than just a question of keeping the services

          8  near the people who need them, also factor in what

          9  is the extent of service location there already, and

         10  ultimately working with local leadership.

         11                 And, again, I'm not going to ask any

         12  more, I know my colleagues have a number of

         13  questions, but I do think, I think we have real

         14  concerns about how much Council members and local

         15  leaders have been brought into the discussion early

         16  enough and in a productive enough way to help figure

         17  out some of that, to help figure out the balance

         18  between the need to serve people who are in need and

         19  from the neighborhood versus the large needs of the

         20  neighborhood to keep moving in a positive direction.

         21                 So, just you don't need to respond to

         22  that, but I just wanted to put that out. Let me

         23  first welcome my colleague Bill Perkins and turn to

         24  him for his questions and then to Council Members

         25  Dilan and Reyna.
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          2                 Due to the graciousness, ever

          3  gracious gentleman from Harlem, I will now turn to

          4  my right, and turn to Council Member Eric Martin

          5  Dilan.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER DILAN: Thank you, Mr.

          7  Chairman. And, Commissioner Gibbs, thank you for

          8  being here today. I just have a few questions that I

          9  will ask, and I would hope to get the best answer

         10  possible.

         11                 When your agency has to select a site

         12  for shelter, what are some of the criteria that you

         13  use in site selection?

         14                 COMMISSIONER GIBBS: The process for

         15  identifying new shelter capacity is initiated at the

         16  community level by our providers who, we have an RFP

         17  that asks providers if they an interest in providing

         18  shelter services to submit to us a proposal for how

         19  they would deliver those services, and to identify a

         20  service site that they are in control of where they

         21  would deliver the services, and so that the

         22  proposals come to us through that process. And the

         23  first official notice of new shelter sites that's

         24  required to go to the community is through that RFP,

         25  so the RFP itself says to the provider when you mail
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          2  your proposal to DHS, at the same time send a letter

          3  to the community board informing them that you have

          4  submitted a proposal for our consideration. It's not

          5  a decision. It doesn't commit DHS to use that

          6  facility, but it does obligate the providers from

          7  the first stage of submitting a proposal to make

          8  notification to the community board that the

          9  proposal has been submitted.

         10                 Once then as it moves through the

         11  contracting process, there are other subsequent

         12  notices for public hearing and so forth.

         13                 The reality of the situation is that

         14  we will sometimes know about a property before a

         15  proposal is actually submitted, so that we will

         16  understand through communications, we work with

         17  folks on a constant basis and this past year we have

         18  opened 1,800 family shelter units in I think 30 to

         19  35 buildings. We've opened a tremendous amount of

         20  shelters. There are a very committed group of people

         21  who are working very diligently to assist us in

         22  finding capacity and working to bring it forward. If

         23  we hear about it sooner, and it reaches a level of

         24  judgment in the agency, well this looks like

         25  something that probably is going to come forward, we
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          2  won't wait for the proposals to come in, we'll

          3  actually inform the community in advance. And I know

          4  both of you have facilities that are in that

          5  condition where we actually haven't received the

          6  proposal yet, but we have provided that notice to

          7  your community in advance of receiving proposals.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER DILAN: Is there any

          9  consideration given when you select a new site as to

         10  how many units or beds that are in a close by

         11  geographical area?

         12                 COMMISSIONER GIBBS: The answer is

         13  yes. And the other answer at the same time equally

         14  true is again our ability to turn down capacity, is

         15  very, very limited. And just to make this point, I

         16  know have 200 families that are waiting in overnight

         17  placements, which means they don't have a long-term

         18  shelter where they'll stay for several months.

         19  They're staying on a nightly basis on overnight

         20  capacity and going back to the EAU every day, 200

         21  families waiting for shelter capacity. So, I have

         22  all those folks that are very anxiously awaiting the

         23  addition of more shelter capacity in the City.

         24                 So, with that being said, and, again,

         25  the need to respond to the demand as we experience
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          2  it, we do look at the facilities coming in in order

          3  to understand both the concentration of facilities

          4  in communities, as well as the proximity. There's a

          5  difference between five shelters distributed broadly

          6  throughout a community, versus five shelters where

          7  they're all on a single block, so we try to

          8  understand the distribution within the community,

          9  and there are some providers who we think don't have

         10  the best interests of our clients in mind and we

         11  won't do business to them. So there are folks who

         12  will bring stuff forward to us and we'll just tell

         13  them that we will not do business with them.

         14                 So there's, both in terms of the

         15  siting and in terms of the individuals involved, you

         16  know we do certainly always ask the question, and on

         17  occasion will not accept the facility being offered.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER DILAN: Okay. According

         19  to your testimony, if I understand it correctly, you

         20  said there are approximately ten neighborhoods

         21  across the City, that I guess from your testimony I

         22  would take as an admission, from your agency that

         23  are overburdened; could you identify those ten

         24  communities?

         25                 COMMISSIONER GIBBS: I'm sorry, what
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          2  the testimony was meant to say is that there are

          3  about ten communities in the City that actually

          4  account for the majority of demand for shelter,

          5  meaning that it's those of the communities where

          6  individuals are from, their home prior to becoming

          7  homelessness.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER DILAN: Could you state

          9  those ten communities?

         10                 COMMISSIONER GIBBS: I don't have the

         11  --

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER DILAN: To the best of

         13  your ability?

         14                 COMMISSIONER GIBBS: Absolutely.

         15  Central Brooklyn, South Bronx, Northern Manhattan,

         16  Jamaica Queens.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER DILAN: Okay. Now, the

         18  Charter mandates that your agency submit to the

         19  Speaker of the Council on October 1st of every year

         20  a five-year plan to relieve homelessness with an

         21  annual update, and at the end of that plan you're to

         22  submit to the Speaker a new five-year plan. This is

         23  to include, you know, capital projects and

         24  rehabilitations and renovations, has your agency

         25  submitted this report to the Speaker as of yet?
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          2                 COMMISSIONER GIBBS: When I started my

          3  position, I dutifully read through the Charter and

          4  Administrative Code to understand both what the

          5  mission of the agency was and to understand the

          6  various reporting requirements, of which there are

          7  quite a few.

          8                 In looking at the one that spoke

          9  about planning was the five-year plan section of the

         10  Charter -- Administrative Code. And in reading

         11  through that section, what we chose to do, rather

         12  than it's a fairly, the way the provision reads, it

         13  reads as a fairly numeric exercise, projection

         14  numbers, you know, take whatever your tend line is,

         15  you know, anticipate what it's going to be over the

         16  next couple of years, and indicate what your

         17  planning response to that will be in terms of

         18  facilities and investments.

         19                 What I chose to do is to take a more

         20  systemic programmatic approach to planning in the

         21  agency, and I would also say at the same time, it

         22  didn't appear that five-year plan had been submitted

         23  any time after the first one that was submitted over

         24  a decade ago. So, it was also an inactive provision

         25  of City law that was not currently in practice by
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          2  the agency as being constantly updated in the way

          3  that you mentioned it was required.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER DILAN: But

          5  nevertheless still City Hall.

          6                 COMMISSIONER GIBBS: Absolutely.

          7  Absolutely the case.

          8                 So the way that we satisfied that was

          9  I think in a much preferable way, which is not just

         10  to do, I mean it's easy to draw as I showed you here

         11  today in the testimony, it's easy to draw a trend

         12  line that shows how the shelter family population

         13  will go up and talk about that, what I was

         14  interested in was saying what are we doing to solve

         15  homelessness, what is this agency's policies to

         16  address this issue? Do we just want to build more

         17  shelter into perpetuity? And the answer, of course,

         18  is no. People are working on this issue because they

         19  want to overcome homelessness. And, so, we put

         20  together the strategic plan that focuses and

         21  expressed a goal of not just providing shelter

         22  services, but focusing the system's attention on

         23  preventive activities and on permanency.

         24                 This chart shows how the strategies

         25  set forth in this strategic plan that encompass the
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          2  obligations of the local law has had this impact of

          3  really slowing that growth in the shelter system

          4  because of the number of people that have left

          5  shelter to move to permanent housing.

          6                 I think if we bring that same

          7  approach on the prevention work, and this isn't just

          8  DHS, it's community groups, it's other City

          9  agencies, it's working with that same amount of

         10  coordination and perseverance, I think we can do a

         11  better job of preventing people from coming into

         12  homelessness.

         13                 And, so, I think the intent and the

         14  requirements of the local law for planning I think

         15  are more than fully embraced in this strategic plan.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER DILAN: The local law

         17  also asks that you include a projected number of

         18  capital projects and rehabilitations; is that

         19  included in that document?

         20                 COMMISSIONER GIBBS: No. This is very

         21  much of a schematic document, where there are

         22  numbers as it relates to the spending and the

         23  allocations on prevention and the allocations on

         24  housing for folks to leave shelter to move to

         25  permanent housing. The budget dollars are all
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          2  presented both in the Mayor's Management Report and

          3  in the City budget obviously.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER DILAN: Okay, because I

          5  also agree that we should be focusing on prevention

          6  and move individuals to permanent housing, but in

          7  light of the crisis that we have, I believe Chairman

          8  Addabbo stated it very well when he said that

          9  transparency is the key.

         10                 Upon reviewing the budget documents

         11  this year, I wasn't able to ascertain how large the

         12  capital budget for your department was over the next

         13  five years; could you maybe enlighten me?

         14                 COMMISSIONER GIBBS: I did not bring

         15  the budget information with me today. I think we're

         16  meeting in another week or so in the budget

         17  testimony, I can make sure to bring it at that time

         18  and go through that in more detail.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER DILAN: So, generally,

         20  capital spending, I basically didn't see anything.

         21  Is this something where your agency, and correct me

         22  if I'm wrong, where your agency would basically use

         23  expense funds for a contract and require a landlord

         24  to renovate a building before a shelter is ready to

         25  open?
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          2                 COMMISSIONER GIBBS: In thinking about

          3  expenditures on the bricks and mortar of shelter,

          4  you would see it in two places. One is, a number of

          5  the facilities that are used as homeless shelters

          6  are Cityowned buildings, and even if we have a

          7  not-for-profit provider as the shelter operated, the

          8  service provider, the City maintains the

          9  responsibility for the maintenance, the construction

         10  maintenance and upkeep of those buildings, so we do

         11  have -- and the City also at the same time operates

         12  14 directly-operated shelters. So, there is a

         13  capital budget both for the upkeep of those

         14  not-for-profit run shelters that the City owns, plus

         15  our own City-run shelters, and that's one place that

         16  you would see sort of the bricks and mortar spending

         17  on shelters.

         18                 For properties that are not owned by

         19  the City but are owned by the not-for-profit

         20  organizations, or are leased by the not-for-profit

         21  organizations, the cost associated with the bricks

         22  and mortar there are part of their operating

         23  budgets. In some cases it's very small if the

         24  not-for-profit owns the building and there is no

         25  mortgage due and it's in relatively good shape, then
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          2  those costs are small. In other cases where the

          3  property may be older and in need of repairs and

          4  more substantial rehabilitations, we would adjust

          5  their rates to ensure the integrity of the facility.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER DILAN: So, you stated

          7  that you do anticipate a rise, you do anticipate a

          8  rise in homeless population this summer; how many

          9  new facilities do you plan to open within the short

         10  term?

         11                 COMMISSIONER GIBBS: Within the next

         12  two months -- well, actually within the past couple

         13  of weeks we've opened three, and the next two months

         14  we'll be opening another four or five facilities.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER DILAN: Okay.

         16                 COMMISSIONER GIBBS: Okay. In total,

         17  by June 30th, we will be bringing on 600 new units

         18  of family shelter.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER DILAN: Okay, and how

         20  many do you plan to open in Fiscal Year '04?

         21                 COMMISSIONER GIBBS: We currently

         22  don't have any facility that is on our development

         23  schedule for Fiscal Year '04, but I would say at the

         24  same time that I would expect that there would be

         25  additional facilities opened, they just haven't yet
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          2  been identified. It's sort of that difference

          3  between the plan recognizing the need and doing the

          4  work in advance, and none are just that far advanced

          5  that they think that we believe there's something

          6  that we can count on as part of our capacity.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER DILAN: Mr. Chairman,

          8  I'm going to end with my line of questioning. But I

          9  would urge that this Committee certainly come up

         10  from the Department with their amount of capital

         11  spending and projections and siting for future

         12  shelters within the very near future.

         13                 It is required by Charter and to that

         14  section of the Charter, I believe that the

         15  Department is certainly within violation, and they

         16  should do everything necessary to come into

         17  compliance with the law, and I trust that this

         18  Committee will do the proper oversight to that

         19  regard.

         20                 Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Thank you,

         22  Council Member Dilan. I appreciate that you've been

         23  very focused on this issue, and we obviously want to

         24  make sure that we always have more information

         25  rather than less from the Administration about
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          2  what's going on, especially given the importance of

          3  this issue. So, we're going to pursue the proper

          4  reporting information, but in addition, I'd like to

          5  welcome you to our budget hearing so that we can

          6  pursue the capital budget piece, and we'll prepare

          7  with you for that hearing.

          8                 I want to welcome Council Member

          9  Chris Quinn and Council Member Gale Brewer. And

         10  we're going to, because this has such an impact on

         11  her community, we're going to go next to Council

         12  Member Diana Reyna. I just want to tell the

         13  Committee members that after Commissioner Gibbs, we

         14  expect to take a very quick, very quick vote on

         15  Resolution 803, which is the anti-discrimination

         16  measure related to members of the armed service and

         17  their housing arrangements. That will be very brief.

         18  We'll do that after the Commissioner's testimony is

         19  finished, while we still have a quorum.

         20                 But let me turn now to my good friend

         21  Diana Reyna, who has been really on the front line

         22  of dealing with these issues, and we welcome her

         23  questions.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: Thank you, Mr.

         25  Chair.
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          2                 Welcome. Good morning, Commissioner

          3  Gibbs.

          4                 COMMISSIONER GIBBS: Good morning,

          5  Council member.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: I just wanted

          7  to take a moment to go over the first facility that

          8  was sited two years ago. There hasn't been really an

          9  update on that, and I know that the community has

         10  vigorously attempted to block the facility from

         11  becoming of age, and I know that I pass by the

         12  facility every day and it's being constructed

         13  rapidly. What is the status of the new Porter Avenue

         14  shelter in Brooklyn, in the industrial park? And

         15  what is the plan date of opening the shelter, if you

         16  can answer that?

         17                 COMMISSIONER GIBBS: The most recent

         18  information I have on that, and so I don't know if

         19  there's been any delays in the construction

         20  schedule, though I don't believe there has been, but

         21  if it's current the schedule's construction complete

         22  date is December. And I think we're waiting to get

         23  closer to that point to see if that's in fact when

         24  it will be completed for the purpose of starting to

         25  move the clients from 30th Street over to that
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          2  facility.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: And you

          4  mentioned 30th Street, and I'm glad you did because

          5  that's where we're going to get the brunt of half of

          6  the men that utilize the facility at 30th Street

          7  over to the North Brooklyn site on Porter Avenue.

          8  What has happened with the second half of the 400

          9  men?

         10                 COMMISSIONER GIBBS: The Porter Avenue

         11  site is one part of four separate components that

         12  function at 30th Street. Our goal is to close the

         13  30th Street facility, and to relocate those

         14  components.

         15                 The additional 400 beds, there has

         16  been a proposal in discussion but not submitted with

         17  a separate provider.

         18                 One of the issues has been the

         19  result, both the service components, as well as the

         20  siting component. So that has not come to us as a

         21  proposal yet. And the other two components of men's

         22  intake and the Camp LaGuardia bus, we're looking for

         23  additional sites for them.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: So there's

         25  really no plan for the 30th Street Men's Shelter, as
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          2  far as the second half of the total number where the

          3  individuals will be going once 30th Street is

          4  closed.

          5                 COMMISSIONER GIBBS: There is not now

          6  a final resolution.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: And so that

          8  will delay the planning to close the 30th Street

          9  site?

         10                 COMMISSIONER GIBBS: Until we get the

         11  proposals I couldn't say that.

         12                 I wanted to just ask for information

         13  on -- you had spoken here, I'll refer to it in your

         14  testimony, that your greatest challenges as far as

         15  community input and working with the community so

         16  that you can get your providers to understand and

         17  assimilate the homeless individuals in the

         18  communities where they're being placed, work with

         19  their advisory board, work with their community

         20  board, but in turn, the community boards are

         21  circumvented, at least they feel they are when

         22  they're being told, you know, this is the facility

         23  that's going to go up in your neighborhood.

         24                 Is there any update that DHS is doing

         25  or working with the providers to go back and
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          2  evaluate what the conditions are, how has the

          3  advisory board been working? And I have one

          4  particular facility and site on Broadway, commercial

          5  strip, where, you know, the very reasons why the

          6  community didn't want that community site, for

          7  somebody to be placed there, in fact is occurring.

          8  You know, we have prostitution, our officers, as far

          9  as police presence is concerned is being deployed

         10  there, rather than dealing with the more quality of

         11  life issues such as drug infestation. So, we're

         12  working with the advisory board, but at the same

         13  time, these are the issues that were feared and are

         14  occurring.

         15                 COMMISSIONER GIBBS: And, so, you have

         16  my apologies. This is the first time that I'm

         17  hearing of that particular complaint, and I

         18  certainly wish that I had heard of that through our

         19  routine means of communication. So, I will find out

         20  why I haven't heard about that before now.

         21                 What I would say to that is that we

         22  do count on our providers to have good community

         23  relations, to work with the community boards, to

         24  have a community advisory board and then to hold

         25  those meetings routinely, and that is the primary
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          2  means of ensuring good neighbor relationships, that

          3  there's ways that the shelter can tell the community

          4  what's going on within the shelter, and that the

          5  community can raise with the shelter concerns, and

          6  it's the operators of those shelters that have the

          7  obligation to deal with those concerns and make sure

          8  that they are good neighbors.

          9                 At the same time, we attend many

         10  community board meetings ourself as well, we go out

         11  and we work directly with the community, and

         12  certainly any time that there's a shelter where

         13  there's any kind of concern like that is being

         14  raised and an issue is occurring and you're not

         15  getting a response in the shelter, I absolutely need

         16  to know about that, both to address it and to

         17  understand which providers are not addressing those

         18  concerns.

         19                 So, I'll follow up on that in

         20  particular, but that's the kind of communication

         21  that we have to ensure is in place across the board,

         22  in order to have the communities not fear shelter

         23  operations. And the experience that I've had even in

         24  this past year and a half of a tremendous amount of

         25  shelter growth is that our providers are quite
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          2  responsive, and that the communities, after I think

          3  some issues that always come up whenever a new

          4  facility opens, there's always sort of start-up

          5  bumps along the way, but things I think settled down

          6  very nicely, very quickly, and my experience over

          7  and over again is this kind of proactive work helps

          8  the community to overcome its fears, and quite

          9  frequently then becomes a great source of support

         10  for the shelters by bringing in holiday programs,

         11  tutoring, weekend programs, after school programs,

         12  our communities are really great supporters of the

         13  shelters themselves.

         14                 So, I will follow up on that in

         15  particular, and I would encourage anyone, if there

         16  are issues related to particular shelters, we want

         17  to know about that. We don't want these to be tough

         18  difficult places for you or for our clients. We want

         19  them to meet our clients needs and to be good

         20  neighbors in the communities.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: And I

         22  appreciate your follow-up and I will be in touch

         23  with you on it. But it brings me to the next point,

         24  as far as that one facility already in place, and

         25  how, you know, three, four blocks up, going I guess
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          2  west, we will see another shelter go up on Putnam

          3  and Broadway, to the left of it or the right of it

          4  will be another facility on Broadway, and this will

          5  be right across the street on Nariam Place and

          6  Broadway. You had mentioned these are vacant

          7  properties that haven't been utilized and now you're

          8  bringing use to them, at the same time we're trying

          9  to build our commercial strip. It's going to be very

         10  problematic to bring real job development to an area

         11  that needs it, and to create some type of strategy

         12  where we're not fighting with the Administration,

         13  but in fact working with the Administration, to be

         14  able to bring that real economic development plan.

         15                 It's very difficult when we're siting

         16  shelters every other four blocks, or every other ten

         17  blocks. And I understand that there's not ten

         18  facilities in one block, but rather spread out, it's

         19  still problematical for the simple reason that

         20  you're never going to attract the right businesses

         21  to come in and expand.

         22                 These vacant properties of

         23  manufacturing use or light industrial use will no

         24  longer be zoned for that purpose but rather

         25  residential, and therefore, encouraging displacement
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          2  and gentrification.

          3                 I don't know what the facility will

          4  become after you've met your demand for homeless

          5  shelter beds, and once those families are placed in

          6  real permanent housing, what happens to that

          7  facility? Has the Department really thought about

          8  that issue? Because what we will see is then market

          9  rate housing go in, and, therefore, your shelter

         10  system will then be up in growth for the demand of

         11  beds once again, which is the reason why people are

         12  going into the system in the first place.

         13                 I don't know if you have any comments

         14  towards that, or do you plan to have that as part of

         15  your five-year plan.

         16                 COMMISSIONER GIBBS: Well, I

         17  perpetually look for reasons to hold out hope in

         18  this position, and I think one of the silver linings

         19  that we have with the conversion to residential use

         20  of unutilized buildings is that the construction

         21  itself is appropriate for permanent housing, and the

         22  benefit we have, if we're able to be successful both

         23  with the permanency initiatives and with the

         24  prevention initiatives is that a decrease in the

         25  shelter system will allow us to free up that space
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          2  once again for residential use. And in the case of

          3  these conversions where it wasn't prior residential

          4  use, we have actually managed to increase the

          5  permanent housing stock. Now we need to get there,

          6  we need to reduce the shelter population, through

          7  better prevention, improved permanency, but if we

          8  can do that, we actually have the promise of turning

          9  thousands of units of housing back to the community.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: But, again,

         11  that doesn't address the affordability issue, and so

         12  it's just going to be affordable units going back to

         13  the community, or is this going to be market rate

         14  units, where residents really can't afford living in

         15  their own neighborhoods after they've been turned

         16  over.

         17                 COMMISSIONER GIBBS: Of course this

         18  depends now -- I'm a little bit out of my area of

         19  expertise here, it would depend on both the

         20  ownership of the property, whether it's in the

         21  ownership of a not-for-profit organization, and what

         22  their broader organizational mission is, as it

         23  relates to the use of their properties, or whether

         24  it's a market rate lease.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: I know for a
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          2  fact that on Broadway the facility that is being

          3  utilized by a non-profit as a provider is really a

          4  private space, it's private property. You know, once

          5  the provider has done their job, families are placed

          6  in permanent housing, that owner will not be privy

          7  to market rate housing, because there is no

          8  provision for affordable living units. Is that

          9  something that we're working towards really

         10  discussing with the Administration, you know, what

         11  do we do after we've already --

         12                 COMMISSIONER GIBBS: I think your

         13  question has a really valuable and excellent

         14  implication, which is as we do this, and as we move

         15  in this direction, and combined of course with the

         16  Mayor's plan, the new housing, new marketplace

         17  initiative, to bring on the 65,000 of low- and

         18  moderate-income housing, how can this housing stock

         19  that's currently now in shelter use contribute

         20  toward expanding affordable housing in the City. I

         21  think it's an excellent question and one that

         22  deserves more attention.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: And I do hope

         24  that you do share this with the Mayor so that at

         25  least he understands, you know, we're facilitating
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          2  property owners to build market rate apartments, not

          3  true affordable housing units.

          4                 And, you know, in addition to just

          5  providing them with the zoning, we're providing them

          6  with capital costs by renovating their own

          7  properties, and then in turn, you know, the little

          8  bit they have to do is just manage their properties

          9  to receive the profits that they've already ventured

         10  out to get.

         11                 So, if your commitment is there to

         12  work on these issues, I hope I can have a

         13  conversation with you as to what the follow-up has

         14  been on that.

         15                 I don't want to continue asking

         16  questions because I know everyone is eager to ask

         17  and I do appreciate you indulging me in

         18  participating with this Committee.

         19                 Thank you.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Thank you,

         21  Council Member. And we appreciate your involvement

         22  on this issue with us, and thank you for helping to

         23  inspire this hearing.

         24                 Next to ask a question, the venerable

         25  Bill Perkins.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Thank you

          3  very much, Mr. Chairman. And, Commissioner, thank

          4  you for your attendance.

          5                 I want to be frank about how

          6  disappointed the community is with regard to how the

          7  Administration is handling this crisis, and how it

          8  is compounding the problem in terms of community

          9  relations, and the ability of the communities to be

         10  receptive, and to some extent supportive of the need

         11  to take care of those who are homeless.

         12                 I think that the efforts that you're

         13  making supposedly to require perspective

         14  not-for-profits to communicate with the boards, is

         15  not good enough, because what's happening is it

         16  doesn't pick a bigger picture at what's happening in

         17  the neighborhood, particularly considering that it's

         18  a sort of multi-faceted or multiple types of special

         19  needs housing that's going on in some neighborhoods

         20  and no one seems to know, except the people that

         21  live in the neighborhood, what's actually being put

         22  into their neighborhood. And there seems to be a

         23  hostility when community board or community leaders,

         24  Council members, want to sit down and look at this

         25  in a more comprehensive and perhaps even supportive
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          2  way, and I don't see in your testimony any interest

          3  in that regard, and maybe I'm misreading it, and so

          4  I'm asking why aren't we doing that? Why aren't we

          5  having some sort of task force, multiple agency task

          6  force, look at what's going on in communities to

          7  determine whether they're over saturated, and even,

          8  and maybe there may need to be some other places,

          9  some other types of considerations, so that the kind

         10  of hostility that is brewing and being expressed in

         11  our neighborhoods can to some extent be acknowledged

         12  and appropriately addressed. I don't see that

         13  happening right now. I understand that there are

         14  mandates, and I understand that there are needs, and

         15  I don't think that I or my colleagues, or even folks

         16  from the neighborhoods are hostile per se to

         17  homeless people, as much as they're hostile in the

         18  manner they're being put into the neighborhood

         19  without consideration of the neighborhood leadership

         20  plan for that area.

         21                 COMMISSIONER GIBBS: So, If I could, I

         22  hope that nothing I said today suggested any

         23  hostility on my part or the part of the agency.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Let me say

         25  this. You said nothing today or ever that I recall

                                                            48

          1  COMMITTEE ON GENERAL WELFARE

          2  in all the times that we discussed that was hostile,

          3  but it's the implementation of the policy that are

          4  received with hostility. You understand? People feel

          5  imposed upon. They feel as if they're concerns are

          6  not being responded to. They feel as if they're not

          7  a part in a significant way of the process. Members

          8  get notified too late to have a real significant

          9  input, and the community boards are notified too

         10  late to have a significant input so on and so forth,

         11  and that's what I'm talking about.

         12                 I'm not saying you are hostile. I

         13  think you're probably more of a victim of the

         14  circumstances that you're in perhaps, but I don't

         15  see a real appreciation of the problem in an effort

         16  to bring people together in some way to work

         17  together on this so that we can do this in a more

         18  humane and a more community friendly way.

         19                 COMMISSIONER GIBBS: And, so, maybe

         20  what I should say is that I really welcome

         21  suggestions for how to do that.

         22                 Earlier in the hearing we talked a

         23  little bit about community need and better

         24  transparency, and so I would welcome suggestions. I

         25  hope that folks at the same time would recognize
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          2  that we've made efforts to provide greater advance

          3  notice, and I explained to Council Member Dilan and

          4  Council Member Reyna, who both are anticipating new

          5  facilities in their community, how we've given

          6  months of advance notice and even notice in advance

          7  of proposals coming to us officially. We've had in

          8  fact one circumstance where in the goal of providing

          9  that advanced notice, it was an unnecessary notice

         10  because it was premature because it didn't work out

         11  for one reason or the other. But in this goal of

         12  actually giving better advanced notice, consulting

         13  with the community, talking about community-based

         14  providers who are familiar with the community and

         15  its needs, that we could partner to work either as

         16  service providers of the facility or as supportive

         17  partners to the facility. I'm not suggesting that

         18  it's perfect. I'm not suggesting that everybody

         19  ought to be satisfied. I think the process is

         20  inherently conflictual because of the concerns that

         21  people do have about the siting of such a facility

         22  in their community. There's a lot of fear about the

         23  potential. I have discussed, certainly not with

         24  every Council Member and every Borough President,

         25  but I have discussed alternatives, and the reality
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          2  of the circumstance is that nobody will suggest a

          3  place that hasn't been suggested by this agency.

          4  Nobody is going to say, hey, you know what? I've got

          5  a nice facility down the block that no one is using,

          6  it's just not the nature. That's my job. My job is

          7  to find the facilities, my job is to ensure they're

          8  safe and appropriate, and my job is to see as good

          9  of a partner as possible.

         10                 I don't expect community

         11  representatives to suggest sites, although I would

         12  certainly welcome it if you did, I don't expect

         13  that. So, at the same time, I think it may be

         14  inherently the conflictual in this process, and we

         15  have to try to not fear that conflict but to engage

         16  it and to think about the issues and to be as

         17  responsive as we can.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: I'm glad that

         19  you've met with Borough Presidents. They're very

         20  important. But I've been asking, the district that I

         21  represent, as you know, includes the so-called upper

         22  west side, Columbia University area, Central Harlem

         23  and parts of East Harlem, but for the most part the

         24  concern is basically in terms of Central Harlem and

         25  the upper west side, but it also includes the areas,
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          2  and that's like Board 10, 9, 7 and 11, and

          3  invariably they've asked, why aren't we sitting down

          4  with you and the other appropriate agencies to look

          5  at what's happening in our neighborhood, and to plan

          6  out how we can work together on addressing this

          7  problem.

          8                 Granted, very few neighborhoods would

          9  say, oh, send them over here, or, you know, as

         10  opposed to sending them over there, but that's not

         11  all together out of the question that through a

         12  certain type of planning, that there can be more

         13  receptiveness in terms of how this happens.

         14                 I don't see the mission being

         15  successful when all you're creating is antagonism,

         16  and have not taken the opportunity to sit down with

         17  these communities and give them an idea as to what

         18  are you plans before you send them a notice about

         19  something coming up. Folks get noticed after the

         20  fact, not before the fact, and I think what folks

         21  want to do is get noticed before the fact and be a

         22  part of the planning process, and recognizing that

         23  ultimately something has to be done. But I think

         24  when you get people who are volunteering their time

         25  on community boards, they're volunteering their time
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          2  to patrol their blocks, and to do all these types of

          3  things to make this a better community, to make this

          4  a better city, they feel stepped upon and abused

          5  when they're not allowed to be a part of the

          6  process, and it seems to me that there's a wealth of

          7  talent and good will that we're not taking advantage

          8  of.

          9                 COMMISSIONER GIBBS: And I would

         10  welcome further suggestions on that. As it relates

         11  to specific sites, the reality is that if, in one

         12  case we actually gave the notice of one site so far

         13  in advance where it wasn't as developed as it should

         14  have been, and it wound up not coming forward as a

         15  proposal, not because of the community conversation,

         16  but because the proposal in fact never materialized.

         17  And what we found from that experience is that we

         18  put a community through a tremendous amount of

         19  anxiety unnecessarily. And, so, I think the before

         20  and after question becomes, you know, it's difficult

         21  to manage in that relationship.

         22                 If there's a suggestion about a way

         23  to look and say, well, here is the homelessness

         24  emanating from your community, here is the level of

         25  need in your community, here is what's going on, why
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          2  is this happening in your community? What can we do,

          3  not just to build shelters, but why is this

          4  happening? Is it the housing stock --

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Well, the

          6  question that I wanted to ask is this: I don't know

          7  what is the -- I don't know if it's a given that

          8  because homelessness is emanating from a certain

          9  community that that's where the solution has to lie.

         10  You understand? I think we have to think out of the

         11  box from that point of view, and look at what we

         12  have, what resources do we have, what goodwill do we

         13  have, what opportunity do we have and help people

         14  wherever those opportunities -- but to target just

         15  those communities where supposedly the homeless come

         16  from, I know we keep saying that when we have these

         17  special needs, housing situations or special needs

         18  situations, whether the homelessness or drug

         19  addiction and so on and so forth. So then you wind

         20  up getting certain communities with every facility

         21  because of this definition, well, they come from

         22  your neighborhood, they come from zip code 10029 or

         23  10026 or something like that, and that's not

         24  necessarily the best solution for the development of

         25  the community or the fulfillment of the potential of
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          2  the human beings who are in this predicament. So,

          3  I'm not quite sure if I --

          4                 COMMISSIONER GIBBS: If I could on

          5  that, because I think this is really -- deserves a

          6  very careful discussion and a very -- because I

          7  think if you look at the family services, let's

          8  start with that, what happens is that families who

          9  now enter homelessness often do, most often in fact,

         10  do have to leave their communities. They have to

         11  move their kids out of school, they transfer their

         12  schools and the kids both miss schools, education is

         13  compromised as a result, and when you talk to them

         14  about where, many of them also try to keep their

         15  kids in school and travel great distances every day

         16  in order to keep their kids in their home school.

         17                 For even those who transfer their

         18  kids to the school in the community where the

         19  shelter is, when you ask them where do they want to

         20  go after they leave shelter, they want to go home,

         21  they want to be back in their community, they want

         22  to be in their faith community, they want to be

         23  close to their family, they want their kids back in

         24  their home school. The majority of those, even after

         25  they have transferred their children to a school in
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          2  the community where the shelter is located, they'll

          3  express a desire to get the kids back into the

          4  community.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: This is my

          6  last comment, Mr. Chairman. I want to thank you very

          7  much for your indulgence, and I really appreciate

          8  the conversation.

          9                 That is not all the cases.

         10                 COMMISSIONER GIBBS: You're right.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Because I

         12  have cases where I have folks that are not from that

         13  neighborhood, and I know very well they're not from

         14  that neighborhood, because I engaged them, and it's

         15  not whether they want to be there or not, they're

         16  not from that neighborhood. So, every one in my

         17  district is not from my district, okay? And I'm not

         18  saying in some cases that the people should not go

         19  back to their place where they come from, I'm just

         20  saying you're defining it as if they all have to go

         21  back to the places from which they come, and I don't

         22  know if we should mimic the conversation to that.

         23                 COMMISSIONER GIBBS: It's not all.

         24  Seventy-two percent of those whose children

         25  transferred schools, which was about half, so half
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          2  transferred schools, 72 percent said that they hoped

          3  to move back to their home community and get their

          4  kids back to their home school.

          5                 So, there is that portion, 28

          6  percent, that had other plans, that want to move to

          7  another place, they want to stay here.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Well, that's

          9  what I was trying to say, not everybody that is in

         10  these shelters have children. But I just want us to

         11  have this community conversation, using your phrase

         12  "community conversation," a meaningful community

         13  conversation, before plans are made, before notices

         14  are given as to things that are going to happen in

         15  the neighborhood. I think if you think proactively,

         16  progressively from that point of view, we may be

         17  able to head off some of these problems. Because I

         18  am not sure -- I am not hostile to the homeless, or

         19  any special needs housing or any special needs

         20  populations, and I say that at my community boards

         21  and I say that at my community meetings, and I dare

         22  say that there are many others in this Council who

         23  are in leadership positions, outside of the Council

         24  that would feel the same way. I am very hostile to

         25  things happening in my neighborhood without regard
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          2  to the considerations of the people in the

          3  neighborhood. I'm very hostile to that, whether it

          4  comes from your agency or any other agency, because

          5  it creates problems that I have to deal with and

          6  that the people in the community have to deal with

          7  unnecessarily. And it's almost an arrogance, no

          8  disrespect to you, to do it that way, especially

          9  since the tax dollars being used are these people's

         10  tax dollars. So that's the attitude that I have

         11  about it. But thank you very much.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: I want to

         13  welcome Council Member Larry Seabrook, Council

         14  Member Kendall Stewart, and Council Member Jose

         15  Serrano, Jr. We have several more questions. I just

         16  want to remind the Committee members, after the

         17  questions, after the Commissioner is finished, we

         18  will be taking a vote on Resolution 803 on a

         19  separate matter.

         20                 Council Member Chris Quinn.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: (Microphone is

         22  not on.) Yes, could you go back to the 30th Street

         23  shelter for a sec? Do you know what the date is that

         24  you are going to close that?

         25                 COMMISSIONER GIBBS: Some of the
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          2  components, the Porter Avenue construction is

          3  scheduled to complete in December, and that would

          4  allow us after that to begin the planning for the

          5  transfer of 400 beds from 30th Street over to the

          6  Porter Avenue facility.

          7                 We've been in negotiations with

          8  another provider for the other 400 beds, that has

          9  not resulted in a proposal yet, so until I have that

         10  I couldn't speak to the schedule for the remaining

         11  portion.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: So there's no

         13  firm date?

         14                 COMMISSIONER GIBBS: Correct.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: That's correct.

         16                 I guess this fiscal year there was

         17  9,000 out in certain subsidies set aside for

         18  homeless families, but there have been reports that

         19  there have been problems with getting those out and

         20  that they haven't really been utilized at the rate

         21  necessarily that people would want; do you know what

         22  steps are being taken within DHS, outside of DHS, to

         23  address that to try to make sure that these

         24  resources are being utilized? And also, do you know

         25  whether in the budget for '04 will the number be
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          2  9,000 again?

          3                 COMMISSIONER GIBBS: We anticipate

          4  this year to have about 70 -- by the end of the year

          5  we should have about 70 percent improvement in

          6  housing placements over last year, and year-to-date

          7  this is included in the testimony, and I corrected

          8  one fact that's in the testimony, already this year

          9  we've placed 1,700 more families from shelter into

         10  permanent housing, compared to this time last year.

         11  So this year we've placed, by last week, 4,889,

         12  four-thousand eight-hundred and eighty-nine families

         13  from shelter to permanent housing. By this time last

         14  year that number was only 3,100. So, we've had a

         15  1,700 increase in the number of families moving from

         16  shelter to permanent housing.

         17                 We will not use all 9,000 of the

         18  vouchers and units that were set aside for our use.

         19  Now these months, most recent months, we're at a 70

         20  percent improvement, but it took us four or five

         21  months to get there. Last July and August looked

         22  pretty much like the prior July and August.

         23                 We're working to make this happen. It

         24  requires the multiple City agencies who work

         25  together, NYCHA, HRA, HPD, DHS, to coordinate all of

                                                            60

          1  COMMITTEE ON GENERAL WELFARE

          2  our activities. It requires our providers to work

          3  very affirmatively to move families to permanency

          4  and requires the families themselves to be very

          5  engaged in the search for housing and accepting

          6  housing.

          7                 And, so, it's been in the recent

          8  months that we've really seen the types of

          9  improvements that is going to get us to these

         10  increased numbers. Next year the number will not be

         11  as high as 9,000, and I don't have it with me but it

         12  will be in excess of the number that we'll achieve

         13  this year because it is based on the assumption that

         14  our improvements will continue, and if you look at

         15  the third page of the testimony, that chart shows

         16  you where we would have been had we not been taking

         17  this work, where we would be this time next year if

         18  we continue at the existing pace, but instead what

         19  we're saying is we expect further improvements over

         20  the improvements we've already made, so our

         21  projection is that the shelter population will be

         22  able to decrease based on those further

         23  improvements.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: The

         25  improvements are relating to accessing these
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          2  subsidies?

          3                 COMMISSIONER GIBBS: Really three key

          4  components. First is that we had to put the

          5  resources in place. So, we had to make the services,

          6  the subsidies available.

          7                 Second is we needed broader system

          8  accountability, so that's accountability of the

          9  public agencies, their work, which is why I need

         10  every Thursday morning with the Mayor's Chief of

         11  Staff, and he reviews my weekly numbers, going

         12  through what have I done in the past week, and what

         13  are the partner agencies doing in their

         14  responsibility because it's multiple agencies that

         15  have a role. So, a weekly accountability on the

         16  public agency part, and beginning on July 1st we'll

         17  be implementing a new performance investment plan

         18  for our providers where the accountability they have

         19  for actually producing results at the shelter level

         20  is going to be the system that will do a formal

         21  evaluation of their contracts, plus it will be tied

         22  to their rates so that anybody who is achieving in

         23  excess of their housing targets will have a bonus,

         24  and anyone who is falling short of their targets

         25  will have a fiscal penalty. So, it's a
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          2  performance-based contract payments based on those

          3  same evaluations. So accountability.

          4                 And the third component is client

          5  responsibility, and the obligation on the part of

          6  the clients themselves to take on their tasks in

          7  searching for and accepting suitable housing. Those

          8  standards were part of the agreement that we reached

          9  in the settlement with legal aid this past winter,

         10  and we just last week finalized those procedures so

         11  now that we can put them in place and implement them

         12  in the shelters. Those are going to also help us to

         13  achieve further permanency.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: The increase in

         15  the utilizing of subsidies from this year -- last

         16  year, this year is significant and the Department

         17  should be commended, though it seems like an

         18  unbelievable shame that, you know, 9,000 out there,

         19  you know, if we didn't use 9,000 subsidies because

         20  there weren't that many families who needed them,

         21  you know, then great, there were not, you know, less

         22  folks in that unfortunate situation, but that's not

         23  the reality. So, it seems like although the

         24  improvement should absolutely be commended, to then

         25  take the number down when we know that there were
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          2  more than enough -- oh, the mic isn't on -- more

          3  families than 9,000 out there, probably even, or

          4  more folks than 9,000 out there who needed them,

          5  just seems like we're lowering the bar to meet our

          6  inability to succeed in this area even with the

          7  progress that has been made.

          8                 COMMISSIONER GIBBS: I think there's

          9  two things. First what I want to do is assure the

         10  whole Committee that none of these resources were

         11  lost from the City of New York, and we worked very

         12  closely with NYCHA so that any of the Section 8

         13  vouchers, giving them notice of our progress and

         14  improving, may have been reallocated within New York

         15  for other individuals that will use them. So, please

         16  be sure, I think New York City should be proud of

         17  the performance of the Section 8 program. We are one

         18  of only two jurisdictions in the country that is

         19  able to utilize, do full utilization of our Section

         20  8 vouchers, we in Chicago, and because of our

         21  performance on the use of the Section 8 program, we

         22  actually have the benefit of having allocations

         23  given to us of unused vouchers from other parts of

         24  the country where they're falling short.

         25                 So, the first thing, just please be
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          2  assured that the result of this is not to lose them

          3  from the City, they're being allocated to other

          4  Section 8 uses in the City.

          5                 At the same time, I think where we

          6  were last summer, we didn't know what potential the

          7  system had. We were at a point that the allocation

          8  of Section 8 vouchers for the Department of Homeless

          9  Services was at 20 -- I think it was 26 or 2,700,

         10  and the Mayor gave us the benefit of really a very

         11  vastly increased number of resources in order to see

         12  what we could produce and we have produced

         13  tremendous success, and I am convinced that we

         14  haven't gotten the total amount of success that

         15  we're capable of achieving, I think we can achieve

         16  more.

         17                 So, we have 70 percent improvement

         18  over this time last year. Next year we're counting

         19  on another 50 percent improvement on top of that,

         20  and the numbers result, the allocation of vouchers

         21  results from that assumption. So rather than an

         22  arbitrary number, quite frankly, we didn't know last

         23  year what we were capable of doing, now we have a

         24  year of experience, we've seen the growth, we have a

         25  much clearer sense of the system dynamic, and what
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          2  we're saying is we think we can push ourselves up

          3  another 50 percent over the 70 percent improvement

          4  we've already gained.

          5                 I think it's a high target, but I

          6  think you have to go for it, and you don't know if

          7  you can get there unless you go for it.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: What will the

          9  number be next year?

         10                 COMMISSIONER GIBBS: I apologize,

         11  today I don't have the sheet with me, and maybe I

         12  can bring it, it was suggested earlier to bring back

         13  some of that information at the budget hearing.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Do you expect

         15  to have to use the Bronx House of Detention again?

         16                 COMMISSIONER GIBBS: We expect not to

         17  use it, and that is our hope, and that is our plan.

         18  And we've actually, in looking both at the shelter,

         19  the demand that we see, we are continuing to see the

         20  same number of -- it's the same increase in the

         21  number of folks who are seeking shelter, the demand

         22  has not abated.

         23                 The thing that is helping us to bring

         24  down the size of the shelter system is that more

         25  people are leaving shelter to permanent housing so
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          2  that the new folks who are seeking shelter are using

          3  existing capacity.

          4                 At the same time, we have the busiest

          5  months coming up, and, so, we are bringing on an

          6  additional 600 units of shelter between now and June

          7  30th. It is our, based on all of these projections

          8  and the trends of the past year, that is sufficient

          9  to meet the demand.

         10                 At the same time, the River Avenue

         11  Annex is available, it is fair, it has the work that

         12  was done last summer in place, and in the event of

         13  an emergency it's available. Our goal and our plan

         14  is not to use it.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Thank you.

         16                 COMMISSIONER GIBBS: Thank you.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Council Member

         18  Gale Brewer.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Thank you very

         20  much, Commissioner, and Chairperson. This is

         21  obviously 83rd Street question, but hopefully in a

         22  larger context. I appreciate you're calling me about

         23  these buildings that are privately owned and that do

         24  in fact now house individuals, not families but

         25  couples who are homeless.
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          2                 Leaving all that aside, I agree with

          3  Council Member Perkins on more notice, although some

          4  was given. I still haven't connected with the

          5  gentleman, but we'll keep trying. But this is the

          6  question:

          7                 I have here court documents signed by

          8  the HPD on February 28, 2002. I think you're very

          9  familiar, as I am, with the certificate of no

         10  harassment that was put in in the Koch years for

         11  single room occupancy, that whole process, which is

         12  an HPD process, you don't get to renovate your

         13  building if you're a single room occupancy, if in

         14  fact you provided -- if you are accused of harassing

         15  tenants out. It's sort of the short version of the

         16  story. Well, it turns out that this particular

         17  owner, and I was very familiar with it, did harass

         18  out a whole group of tenants living in this

         19  building, some of whom were mentally ill and who

         20  were working with the homeless prevention project as

         21  Goddard Riverside.

         22                 So, there's like here is stips from

         23  the Judge, I find that HPD has acts of harassment,

         24  and it goes to four pages with a total of almost

         25  2,000 violations over the course of two years. He's
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          2  the bad guy, the current owner of these buildings.

          3                 So, my understanding, I didn't know

          4  this until this weekend, putting it all together, I

          5  mean it's bad stuff, so here he is, he got everybody

          6  out, Goddard Riverside tried to purchase the

          7  building, didn't have enough money, I was working

          8  with them to try to raise it at the time, and now

          9  here we are about a year later and he's making, I'm

         10  not going to say millions, but he's making very good

         11  money from the City of New York providing homeless

         12  housing.

         13                 So, my question is, how is this

         14  possible? Because I was under the impression, he was

         15  not able to get a certificate of no harassment, the

         16  HPD denied him that. So now here we are with his

         17  ability to get money through homeless services,

         18  without a certificate of no harassment, because he's

         19  not obviously providing stabilized units and he's

         20  not able to renovate. He's not able to renovate.

         21  Something is wrong here.

         22                 So, my question is, in the end, once

         23  this homeless family problem, or homeless individual

         24  problem is somehow improving and in fact this

         25  building is no longer a place for homeless family,
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          2  then the same situation as Coalition of the Homeless

          3  got the buildings on 77th Street because that owner

          4  harassed everybody out, we need to come up with some

          5  way that this owner is not assisted financially

          6  because he has benefitted for this period of housing

          7  people, homeless, but he should not be able to

          8  benefit financially in the future.

          9                 You may be caught in the Catch-22,

         10  but this is outrageous.

         11                 COMMISSIONER GIBBS: And I guess what

         12  I say is I don't know what I'm caught in because

         13  this is the first time that any of that information

         14  has been shared with me --

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: I understand

         16  that.

         17                 COMMISSIONER GIBBS: I would encourage

         18  you when you get it --

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: I just got it

         20  yesterday.

         21                 COMMISSIONER GIBBS: -- Get me

         22  directly, to call me, to call my lawyers, call the

         23  City's lawyers to bring this information to our

         24  attention, and given both of the very sensitive

         25  personal legal nature that I don't think it would be
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          2  prudent on my part to make any comment --

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay, well, I

          4  just want to bring it to your attention. It's five

          5  pages of mind-blowing.

          6                 COMMISSIONER GIBBS: I'd love to have

          7  a copy of whatever you might have.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Thank you very

          9  much.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: I just want to

         11  say, with total respect to my very valued colleague,

         12  five pages of mind-blowing facts sounds like a

         13  little National Enquirer thing here, I like it. I

         14  believe you, I just love the phrase.

         15                 All right, let me turn to Council

         16  Member Kendall Stewart.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: Thank you,

         18  Mr. Chair.

         19                 Commissioner, I'm not too clear with

         20  some of the information you've given here.

         21                 When you talk about 70 percent of the

         22  increased number of clients who are leaving

         23  homelessness, that's 70 percent based on last

         24  year's?

         25                 COMMISSIONER GIBBS: Yes.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: All right.

          3                 Now, what percentage of that is

          4  recurring? In other words, you put somebody in a new

          5  home, and then a year later you have to do the same

          6  thing again because they're out on the street

          7  because of some problem. They may not be the type of

          8  tenant that the landlord may want, and what

          9  percentage of that is recurring? Not necessarily one

         10  year, but in two or three years?

         11                 COMMISSIONER GIBBS: We've done some

         12  work on this recently, and I think the question of

         13  after care falls into really the same condition as

         14  the City's discussion on prevention, which is that

         15  there is money spent on it. In this case, aftercare

         16  funds come primarily from the state, directly to

         17  community-based organizations. Without, again,

         18  coordination or evaluation and outcome measurements.

         19  So, it's not to question whether or not they're good

         20  or effective services, it's just to say we don't

         21  know that because we don't have that kind of outcome

         22  evaluation.

         23                 At the same time, what we are seeing

         24  is a high rate of recidivism of homeless families

         25  who left with subsidies, who are coming back into
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          2  the shelter system. Over a ten-year period, so for

          3  families that left ten years ago, about 30 percent

          4  of them will have re-entered the homeless services

          5  system over that ten-year period, and that's just

          6  unacceptably high. And so what we need to do is to

          7  understand what those after care programs are doing,

          8  what are the things that are causing individuals to

          9  come back into shelter and to better target and

         10  design our services so that folks don't have to go

         11  through this multiple times in their life.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: All right.

         13  I'm trying to also relate scatter sites. You know,

         14  and when you use scatter sites, do you consider that

         15  permanent? In a stance when you do your stats, do

         16  you consider moving people into --

         17                 COMMISSIONER GIBBS: Absolutely not.

         18  Scatter site program is transitional housing, and it

         19  is, we now have about 2,000 scatter site units, and

         20  our goal, none of the new expansion capacity that

         21  we're bringing on is scatter sites, and the goal, as

         22  we reduce the system would be to take the scatter

         23  sites off-line first.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: All right.

         25  The other question is, how do you determine the
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          2  sites that you use for scatter site? How do you

          3  determine that? Because in some neighborhoods you

          4  have some of these scatter sites are so prevalent

          5  that the folks in the district, they are up in arms

          6  with this problem in the field that is increasing in

          7  crime and what you call quality of life problems,

          8  when you have all these scatter sites. Because some

          9  of these folks that we put in these scatter site

         10  homes, folks that might be involved with drugs or

         11  other things like that, how do you determine the

         12  site? How do you come up with that?

         13                 COMMISSIONER GIBBS: Apartments are

         14  arranged through, we have ten scatter site

         15  providers, and those ten providers were selected

         16  when the scatter site program was begun about two

         17  and a half years ago, and they identified apartment

         18  units that were vacant, that were available in the

         19  community, they are, just as the program describes,

         20  they are scattered so that they are scattered

         21  throughout the community, scattered throughout

         22  buildings. The distinguishing factor here is that

         23  they're individual apartments intermingled among

         24  permanent housing tenants in an apartment building,

         25  and the providers have a set amount of units that
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          2  they provide, but it's not in a distinct stand-alone

          3  building.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: All right.

          5  But there are a lot of charges now that some of

          6  these owners, they deny legitimate people who want

          7  these homes because they can get a lot more for

          8  these tenants who they put in the scatter site, so

          9  how do we correct that?

         10                 Because if a landlord will then deny

         11  someone trying to get this apartment, just because

         12  he knows he can bring in X amount of people,

         13  homeless, to get three times or four times, or even

         14  five times more for rent, how do we -- and this is

         15  really causing the problem to even continue.

         16                 COMMISSIONER GIBBS: If I could, the

         17  payment for the scatter site provider includes the

         18  rent on the unit, plus the furnishing the apartment

         19  with all of the furniture and all of the appliances

         20  and all of the pots and pans and dishes and

         21  silverware, so they have to fully outfit the

         22  apartment as a shelter unit, and they have to

         23  provide shelter services so that the cost is not

         24  limited to the rent itself.

         25                 At the same time, and I think this
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          2  really is the strongest reason that we want to

          3  reduce the scatter site program, is that it is

          4  taking its competing with rent-paying tenants for

          5  permanent housing and putting it into shelter use

          6  rather than leaving it as permanent housing in the

          7  community. I think that is the most compelling

          8  reason, that we need to return those programs

          9  around, to return those units to permanent housing,

         10  our ability to be more effective on prevention, and

         11  our ability to help people move from shelters to

         12  permanent housing at greater pace are the things

         13  that we have to count on in order to be able to get

         14  there.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: And who

         16  determines the rent? Because if their rent is let's

         17  say $600 now, and that person is going to be

         18  receiving $3,000.

         19                 COMMISSIONER GIBBS: The individual

         20  rates with each of the providers are negotiated by

         21  my Department.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: And is it

         23  based on the previous rent that they were

         24  collecting?

         25                 COMMISSIONER GIBBS: The rates were
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          2  set two and a half years ago, and were established

          3  at that point and had not been adjusted until this

          4  most recent executive budget where we could need to

          5  propose a 15 percent rate cut to the Scatter Site

          6  program as one of our agency budget reductions.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: I'm still not

          8  clear with that, because if you have an apartment

          9  and you know but just putting in some furniture and

         10  putting in some pots and pans and you used to get

         11  $600 a month and now you're going to get $3,000 by

         12  just adding some of these things, I see that there's

         13  such a great incentive for a person to really block

         14  one from getting the apartment, naturally, and

         15  provided for the homeless. And then --

         16                 COMMISSIONER GIBBS: One of the things

         17  that I would say is that the scatter site units, one

         18  of the challenges for us is that the units are some

         19  of our larger shelter units. We do have more

         20  challenges in placing families with a large number

         21  of children, and the scatter site units are not $600

         22  studios, they are much more likely to be three- and

         23  four-bedroom apartments, and so that combined with

         24  the cost we frequently, we do require them every

         25  time a tenant moves to permanent housing, they have
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          2  to do the repairs and place the furniture and so

          3  there is a lot of costs associated with maintaining

          4  the units in the scatter site program.

          5                 At the same time I will recognize

          6  that they find it more valuable to do that than

          7  permanent housing. We're paying them for a service.

          8  That's reality and I don't think it serves anyone to

          9  deny it. It is the reality. I think that it's a

         10  program, once again it doesn't work as shelter, it

         11  doesn't work from the service intervention design,

         12  and makes it difficult to serve the clients, and

         13  it's taking permanent housing off the market. I

         14  think we can be in agreement about the goal.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: What's the

         16  length of stay for the scatter site?

         17                 COMMISSIONER GIBBS: I don't have the

         18  scatter site length of stay separate from the rest

         19  of the system, so what I can tell you is the average

         20  amount of time that a family stays in the family

         21  shelter is now climbing up to 11 months.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: Eleven

         23  months.

         24                 So, I just want to wrap up now. So,

         25  you're saying if one goes into scatter site and
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          2  wants to be there, is there any kind of agreement

          3  the owner must make after a certain time to at least

          4  make that be permanent?

          5                 Because this could be a recurring

          6  thing and that department should be available for

          7  only a specific time for that scatter site?

          8                 COMMISSIONER GIBBS: There is not that

          9  agreement on the owners part, as long as the shelter

         10  demand is what it is, and until we make better

         11  progress on both prevention and permanency, you're

         12  not in the position to convert it to apartments.

         13  That's the goal and that's what we have to work on.

         14  That's the agency's choice, it's not the -- the

         15  owner is not standing between us and that process,

         16  it's the agency.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: Thank you.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Thank you,

         19  Council member. Finally, a question from Council

         20  Member Larry Seabrook.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEABROOK: Thank you,

         22  Mr. Chairman.

         23                 Just a quick question, Commissioner.

         24  You indicated that there was a 30 percent return

         25  rate --
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          2                 COMMISSIONER GIBBS: Over a ten-year

          3  period.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEABROOK: Over a

          5  ten-year period.

          6                 COMMISSIONER GIBBS: Right.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEABROOK: Now are

          8  these individuals or are these families?

          9                 COMMISSIONER GIBBS: Families. That is

         10  the family. The family shelter system is very

         11  different in dynamic from the single shelter system.

         12  On the family shelter system folks tend to stay for

         13  a long time, and once they leave they're likely to

         14  stay in their permanent housing also for a long

         15  time.

         16                 Historically the agency had looked

         17  back one or two years and the system as a whole felt

         18  very proud that only three to five percent of the

         19  families were returning. That's a very low

         20  recidivism rate.

         21                 When we said, well, let's look back a

         22  little longer, then we saw it is three percent every

         23  year, and over ten years it's 30 percent. So that

         24  they stay, the families tend to stay a longer time,

         25  when they move they are in permanency for a longer
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          2  time, the majority, 70 percent, don't come back,

          3  there are 30 percent who are coming back at some

          4  time over that ten-year period, and that's what we

          5  have to focus on. We have too many folks who are now

          6  in shelter, not for their first time, but for maybe

          7  their second or their third time.

          8                 The single side is quite different

          9  where you have much shorter average lengths of stay,

         10  and much more episodic use, leaving to something

         11  that also turns out to be temporary, coming back, so

         12  the average length of stay on the single side is

         13  more like two to three months, and we actually count

         14  long-term stayers based on whether somebody has been

         15  in the system for the equivalent of two years over a

         16  four-year period, because there's a lot of coming in

         17  and out of the system.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEABROOK: Is there a

         19  similarity for the reasons for the return on the

         20  basis of the entry? When they first enter the

         21  program there was a reason and rationale for

         22  homelessness, is it the same reason and rationale

         23  for the return?

         24                 COMMISSIONER GIBBS: Once we got this

         25  information about the 30 percent recidivism, we
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          2  started our second layer of analysis. We don't know

          3  yet. We don't know if they are fundamentally

          4  different needs in those families who come in and

          5  then recidivate. We don't know if there is, what the

          6  similarities are among those who do recidivate.

          7  Those are the questions we're just starting to ask

          8  ourselves now, and it will take multiple systems

          9  data to help us to answer them, but that's the kind

         10  of answer that we need in order to figure out what

         11  we can do to prevent their re-entering the shelter

         12  system.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEABROOK: Just one

         14  final question, as it relates to a return back into

         15  the system. How does one, or is there a limitation

         16  on the amount of times that a family can be put back

         17  into this program? There's no limit, so they can be

         18  --

         19                 COMMISSIONER GIBBS: The legal and

         20  moral obligation, I would add, in the City of New

         21  York, is that to provide a shelter bed the day that

         22  a family who is in need requests it or a single.

         23                 So there's without limitation as to

         24  prior shelter use or other service received.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEABROOK: Thank you
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          2  very much.

          3                 COMMISSIONER GIBBS: Thank you.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Commissioner,

          5  before we conclude with your part of our hearing, I

          6  want to give the sponsor of this resolution, Eric

          7  Martin Dilan, an opportunity to make a closing

          8  statement. I want to thank him again for having

          9  taken such a leadership role in bringing this to the

         10  Council's attention.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER DILAN: Mr. Chairman, I

         12  again want to thank you for taking on this task. I

         13  appreciate the Commissioner and her effort to answer

         14  our questions to the best of her ability, however,

         15  there are some burning questions that still remain

         16  to be answered, and again transparency I believe is

         17  the best way through this process.

         18                 When you look at just the area that I

         19  represent, where we are getting two new facilities

         20  in approximate 200 beds within less than a one-mile

         21  area, with an additional facility already in place

         22  and talk of another facility coming by on Junias and

         23  Blake, the question still remains are areas still

         24  over-saturated? And without seeing the full

         25  five-year plan, which includes capital, those
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          2  questions remain unanswered. And I think we need to

          3  do everything possible and subpoena, if necessary,

          4  records from the Department to get an answer to

          5  these very important questions, and I look forward

          6  to your continued leadership on this issue.

          7                 Thank you.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Thank you,

          9  Council Member Dilan.

         10                 I'd like to add, Commissioner, we

         11  have the budget hearing May 19th, so obviously we

         12  are pleased that when it comes to the expense side

         13  of the budget that the Administration is I think

         14  trying to accommodate the work that you're doing and

         15  deal with the real numbers of this crisis. I think

         16  we want to spend a fair amount of your time at that

         17  hearing talking about these capital realities that

         18  Council Member Dilan was discussing. It would be

         19  very helpful if we could talk through the capital

         20  budget, its ramifications for the siting of

         21  shelters, and, again, to the maximum extent, since

         22  you now have two weeks to prepare, the maximum

         23  extent that we could talk about how your actions

         24  affect the community in light of the facilities that

         25  already exist, both from your agency and from other
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          2  agencies.

          3                 I mean, I think, again, we appreciate

          4  that you always try to have a real dialogue with us.

          5  I think it's going to be a more productive dialogue

          6  if we can talk about it holistically when you come

          7  back on that front.

          8                 I do want to say also, and I

          9  appreciate again the role you personally have played

         10  with the members of this Committee and with other

         11  members and affected communities. I've never heard

         12  anyone say you have not been personally responsive

         13  when it comes to an issue of shelter siting and

         14  that's very, very important.

         15                 I wish we could say that about all

         16  Commissioners and all City officials. I would say

         17  further, though, that I think what you're hearing

         18  here, and I think you heard it particularly from

         19  Council Member Perkins, is the frustration about the

         20  time line and about how the communication process

         21  occurs all the way down the chain of command. And,

         22  again, I just want to emphasize, the earlier we can

         23  engage the local elected officials and community

         24  leaders, the earlier we can alert the community and

         25  bring people in for productive conversation. No one
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          2  is trying to turn people against the homeless. You

          3  will find, and I think Bill Perkins said it best, we

          4  will be the first to say why it's important to serve

          5  people in need. But we're going to be able to do

          6  that better if we can show our community that real

          7  legitimate concerns are being heard and addressed.

          8                 I myself, and I mentioned this to

          9  you, had an experience when I was regional director

         10  of HUD with a shelter for people with mental

         11  disabilities that was being put in place in

         12  Bayridge, Brooklyn, a community that is tight knit

         13  and was resistant, but we were able to accommodate

         14  the real security concerns of that community well in

         15  advance and build some goodwill in the process.

         16                 I know you don't always have the

         17  luxury of time that some other agencies might have,

         18  but I just want to say strongly, I think we can be

         19  helpful in this process, in a way we haven't always

         20  had the opportunity to be up to now, and I often

         21  find that the things that makes the community

         22  comfortable are not necessarily extensive and costly

         23  but they have everything to do with timing and

         24  communication.

         25                 So, I would just ask you to think
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          2  about that and see what you could do, and we, every

          3  single one of us, is ready to help you to try and

          4  make things go equitably in our communities, but we

          5  have to be in that process early for that to happen.

          6                 COMMISSIONER GIBBS: Thanks. And I

          7  want to thank you. I think those are extremely

          8  thoughtful and helpful comments, and I would look

          9  forward to that kind of collaboration. I think it

         10  would result in a healthier and a better result.

         11  Thank you.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Thank you,

         13  Commissioner. I appreciate your time.

         14                 We're going to go to a vote now on, I

         15  guess two related items, actually. We'll do this

         16  very quickly and then we'll continue with the

         17  hearing.

         18                 So, anyone here for the hearing on

         19  shelter siting, please stand by for just a brief

         20  moment.

         21                 The resolution before us, Resolution

         22  803, and a companion piece filing this vote is

         23  Resolution 747. This is the issue of ensuring that

         24  there's no discrimination against member of our

         25  armed services. Leadership on this issue was
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          2  prominently from Council Members Mike Nelson and

          3  Alan Gerson who are the co-chairs of our Veterans

          4  Caucus, who are both veterans themselves, and the

          5  concern emanated from of course the activities the

          6  last few months of the United States Military

          7  leading to a number of people having to go overseas

          8  on a short notice, questions raised about whether

          9  landlords would honor their leases, whether

         10  landlords would have any tendency to not provide

         11  leases to people who might be in a situation that's

         12  unsettled because of a time of war and national

         13  security crisis.

         14                 We actually did a survey of landlords

         15  and found that approximately 13 percent still

         16  include on their applications a question about

         17  whether someone is a member of the military, which

         18  is illegal under New York City Human Rights Law.

         19  And, so, what we're trying to do is working with the

         20  Human Rights Commission to draw attention to this

         21  issue, to ensure there is no discrimination. Now is

         22  the time with so many men and women overseas for

         23  what will probably be a prolonged period of time,

         24  now is the time to make sure that we send the

         25  message that discrimination will not be tolerated.
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          2                 And this resolution calls on the New

          3  York City Human Rights Commission to make this a

          4  priority, to step up its efforts to protect members

          5  of the military and ensure that no landlords are

          6  even asking whether someone is a member of the armed

          7  services.

          8                 We believe, of course, most landlords

          9  do not mean to do any harm, but an aggressive

         10  education and enforcement effort is necessary at

         11  this time.

         12                 So, with that I'd like to ask the

         13  clerk to call the roll on these two related

         14  resolutions, 803 and 747.

         15                 COUNCIL CLERK: DeBlasio.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Aye.

         17                 COUNCIL CLERK: Perkins.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Aye.

         19                 COUNCIL CLERK: Quinn.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Aye.

         21                 COUNCIL CLERK: Brewer.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Aye.

         23                 COUNCIL CLERK: Seabrook.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEABROOK: Aye.

         25                 COUNCIL CLERK: Serrano.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER SERRANO: Aye.

          3                 COUNCIL CLERK: Stewart.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: Aye.

          5                 COUNCIL CLERK: By a vote of seven in

          6  the affirmative, zero in the negative and no

          7  abstentions, Resolution 747 is filed, and Resolution

          8  803 is adopted. Council Members, please sign the

          9  Committee reports.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: And I'd like to

         11  thank all the Council members for your vote. I think

         12  it's a major step to help our men and women in

         13  uniform. I also want to thank you for your patience

         14  today with the hearing and with the vote.

         15                 We now are going to call up two

         16  individuals who are experts on questions about how

         17  to properly site shelters and other social service

         18  facilities, to give us a perspective on what we

         19  should be doing going forward. And I think

         20  particularly in terms of the concerns raised by

         21  Council Member Dilan and Council Member Reyna, that

         22  this is an opportunity to hear what a positive model

         23  might be of how to do this work.

         24                 I call forward Roseanne Haggerty of

         25  Common Ground Community, and Frank Braconi, of
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          2  Citizens Housing and Planning Council.

          3                 Are they here? Roseanne was here.

          4  Hold on, we'll find her. Roseanne is here. Since we

          5  have a moment we'll say nice things about Roseanne.

          6  Roseanne is a winner of the 2001 MacArthur

          7  Fellowship, meaning she is really smart. We at the

          8  Council always appreciate really smart people.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: That means

         10  she doesn't have to work for a year.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: That means she

         12  doesn't have to work for a year and she can spend

         13  time at City Council hearings, too, which we like.

         14  So, we welcome Ms. Haggerty and Mr. Braconi.

         15                 And Ms. Haggerty, why don't you begin

         16  with your testimony.

         17                 MS. HAGGERTY: Well, thank you very

         18  much for inviting. Common Ground, the organization I

         19  direct, is 12 years old, we develop housing for

         20  homeless and lower-income households, and to date

         21  all of our buildings have been for single adults.

         22                 Our projects, all of which are rather

         23  large and complex, include the Times Square, the 652

         24  units in Community Board 4, and that was located at

         25  43rd and Eighth; Prince George, with 416 units on
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          2  28th Street between Fifth and Madison, the Aurora,

          3  which we developed with the Actress Fund, 57th and

          4  Tenth and that has 178 units, and in development we

          5  have two projects, one in the Chelsea Community in

          6  Board 4, on 24th Street, with 207 units, and the

          7  Andrews Hotel down on Bowery in Board 3, and that

          8  will have 146 units.

          9                 So, my sense today, even though we

         10  are housing providers, is that I would like to draw

         11  the very clear distinction between shelter and

         12  housing for the homeless and to enlist your help and

         13  leadership in advancing the cause of supportive

         14  housing, and in particular making it easier to site

         15  supportive housing, which is the alternative to

         16  homelessness and this never-ending and costly and

         17  burdensome and tragic game we play of shuffling

         18  people around without an end game.

         19                 To make sure that the context and the

         20  definitions are all understood, supportive housing

         21  is affordable housing with on-site services which

         22  will make it possible for those tenants to include

         23  those with mental illness, AIDS, chronic health

         24  issues, those in recovery from substance abuse,

         25  those needing assistance in reentering the
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          2  workforce, to regain their independence and remain

          3  housed. These are not shelters, it's permanent

          4  housing, and not insignificantly these buildings

          5  operate at a fraction of the cost of what we as the

          6  public spend on shelters and other emergency

          7  responses.

          8                 Supportive housing in New York City

          9  typically costs between 12 and 13,000 dollars per

         10  unit per year to operate, and I know you're familiar

         11  with the shelter costs that are upwards of 25, even

         12  50,000 dollars per cot.

         13                 To focus on the issue of siting and

         14  community impact, however, which is a subject of

         15  today's gathering, common ground is the developer

         16  and manager of these buildings. All of them have

         17  been developed as of right in their communities, but

         18  nevertheless, we have gone early and very

         19  exhaustively to enlist community support for our

         20  efforts.

         21                 We find that there is nothing like

         22  information, getting it out early and widely, to

         23  counteract misperceptions of what our programs are,

         24  and to enlist what we find generally to be real

         25  wisdom and compassion in our communities.
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          2                 We have, as I mentioned, been serving

          3  very aggressively, populations to many communities,

          4  in fact we have had enormous success, near

          5  overwhelming and in fact unanimous votes of support

          6  at the community board level with each of our

          7  projects.

          8                 Part of the reason I believe that we

          9  had this kind of support is that we are providing

         10  housing. We're not talking about shelters, and

         11  people in general when the distinction is made clear

         12  understand that it's an entirely different animal

         13  and the impacts on community will be very different,

         14  but beyond the fact of permanent supportive housing

         15  being a more desired and beneficial community youth,

         16  when we explain what the elements of our program

         17  are, I think we pay attention to three things that

         18  really matter most to communities, and I don't care

         19  if it's a jail or a corporate headquarters or a

         20  shelter or supportive housing, if the people

         21  sponsoring it are sensitive to communication,

         22  security and accountability issues, those projects

         23  will have a good impact on their communities. People

         24  want to know what's happening, people want to know

         25  that whatever the impact of that facility, that
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          2  their own concerns around safety will be addressed,

          3  and they want to know who to call if there is a

          4  problem, they want to know that there is someone in

          5  charge and that person will be responsive, or that

          6  organization is on the hook to be responsive.

          7                 These are the elements that I think

          8  communities should really pay attention to, and that

          9  leaders should guide communities in focusing on,

         10  that it's not the youth, it's not who lived there,

         11  it's really, it's a management challenge. Who is

         12  going to be sharing information? Is the information

         13  candid and thorough? Will the facility add to the

         14  safety of the community, and who do you call if

         15  there's a problem? If those elements can be

         16  answered, I think that the fear that communities

         17  sometimes bring to these facilities will really

         18  abate.

         19                 Our neighbors have understood that

         20  supportive housing is the answer. It's an

         21  alternative to emergency shelters and hotels and the

         22  other non-solutions that the City must reach for in

         23  order to satisfy the law and to assist families in

         24  great need who are homeless. I think our job is to

         25  help Commissioner Gibbs in the City to do the right
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          2  thing and the better thing, to make it easier to

          3  support and to site supportive housing, and to

          4  educate our communities to seek the solution and to

          5  understand what a positive addition to communities,

          6  in fact, that this type of housing is.

          7                 To say a bit more about our strategy

          8  and our way of being neighborly, from the get-go,

          9  from the moment we have an idea for a project, and

         10  usually it's in conjunction with a specific building

         11  that we'd like to acquire, we start acting as though

         12  we're part of the neighborhood already, and put

         13  ourselves in the shoes of how a neighbor would

         14  likely feel if rumor starts about a big building

         15  that's about to become something for the homeless.

         16  We know we have to take an active role before we

         17  start a project, and remain active and engaged

         18  members of our communities. We explain every aspect

         19  to our plan to not just the local community boards,

         20  but local elected officials, other neighborhood

         21  groups, churches, block associations, frankly

         22  whoever we can think of who will meet with us, we

         23  start community advisory boards in our communities,

         24  once it's clear that we can even get an option on a

         25  building before we've even taken title.
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          2                 This is not only because we want our

          3  neighbors to welcome us, but we think that on behalf

          4  of our tenants who will ultimately live there,

          5  they'll be better integrated into a neighborhood if

          6  from the start the neighbors understand what our

          7  work is about, who will be serving, and see us as a

          8  neighborhood asset.

          9                 One of the other things that was not

         10  possible in our first project at Times Square, but

         11  certainly has been possible thereafter, is to enlist

         12  the tenants of our buildings and the neighbors of

         13  our existing properties to be available to speak to

         14  communities, to answer questions, to participate in

         15  tours, to basically answer questions to those in a

         16  new community, basically to their counterparts,

         17  people who would have the same fears perhaps that

         18  our existing neighborhoods initially had when we

         19  were proposing projects.

         20                 And I do have to give ample credit to

         21  the neighbors of our properties whose minds have

         22  been open to being educated.

         23                 To tell you one story, in fact

         24  Council Member Quinn is not here right now, but

         25  several of our buildings are in her district,
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          2  Community Board 4, and Council Member Quinn and some

          3  of the other local elected officials came to us to

          4  ask us to try to find a supportive housing use for

          5  the McBernie YMCA residence on 24th Street. This is

          6  a building that the YMCA had put on the market, for

          7  years it had been an affordable housing resource to

          8  single people of limited means, and understanding

          9  our work and the positive impact that it had on the

         10  Board 4 and Board 5 communities where other

         11  buildings are located, they came to us with the

         12  proposal, not only to help us acquire it, but with

         13  the help of the Council, Council Member Quinn was

         14  able to help financially with a number item.

         15                 This is the ideal where supportive

         16  housing group, a group working for the homeless,

         17  isn't, you know, kind of cowering before our

         18  community, but in fact responding to a community who

         19  knows that this is a good use, I should say, and

         20  would welcome any of you who would like to join us,

         21  we'll be opening this facility in two phases in the

         22  fall and early winter, and it will be 207 units of

         23  housing, 167 permanent units, half of which will be

         24  occupied for those who are now homeless, and the

         25  other half by lower-income working people from our
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          2  community. And then 40 of the units in the building

          3  will be for a new program, a transitional program,

          4  called a foye', which is for young people coming out

          5  of foster care who are most at risk of homelessness.

          6                 This gets to that prevention agenda

          7  which is so important.  If we're ever going to see

          8  an end to homelessness, we've got to starting

          9  getting closer to the sources of homelessness,

         10  whether it's the communities where people are most

         11  vulnerable, or the institutions that are through

         12  their failed discharge practices, putting vulnerable

         13  people closer to the street.

         14                 I think the Council has a huge role

         15  to play here, not just in calling the question to

         16  attention of how facilities are sited, but I think

         17  also to help your communities understand the

         18  distinction between supportive housing and shelters.

         19                 The distinction, as you know,

         20  couldn't be greater. On the one hand, thoughtfully

         21  designed and conscientiously operated housing

         22  programs sponsored by not-for-profit groups whose

         23  funding makes them accountable to various public

         24  agencies, are proven assets to neighborhoods.

         25                 Our buildings, for example, have
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          2  contributed to increases and our neighbor's property

          3  values that range from 23 percent to 29 percent in

          4  the years that our buildings have been open.

          5                 In part because supportive housing

          6  buildings, not just our own, but others, have been

          7  built on vacant lots, or involved the rehabilitation

          8  of dilapidated and often crime-ridden buildings,

          9  and, so, we and other organizations take what was

         10  generally the worst property in a neighborhood and

         11  transform it into restored or new buildings, with

         12  24-hour securities, lighting, activities, and above

         13  all, someone in charge, someone to call, someone to

         14  hold responsible.

         15                 And, again, to highlight the economic

         16  benefit, these buildings cost a fraction to operate

         17  of what the public, what the City is spending on

         18  shelters, and other really failed options.

         19                 I know that there have been

         20  mentioned, and I'm sure to the point of frustration,

         21  that perhaps supportive housing and other, all

         22  facilities that serve the poor, that have a

         23  community use, should go through the ULURP process.

         24  And I just want to urge you, never do that.

         25                 We've got to make it easier to
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          2  support the siting of supportive housing. We've got

          3  to have flexibility in getting these projects done.

          4  Anything that makes them more difficult to do is

          5  going to lead to more of these hellish situations

          6  like the hotel situation that Council Member Brewer

          7  just described with mountains of violations and

          8  someone enriching himself off the City budget and

          9  the misery of the poor. If the City through the

         10  Department of Homeless Services and not-for-profit

         11  groups like Common Ground don't have the flexibility

         12  to pursue better solutions, yet the law requires

         13  that families and individuals be housed, you're

         14  going to end up in situations where you're forced

         15  into these unholy alliances with hotel operators

         16  because that's the least scrutinized part. Or as you

         17  were saying, Council member, the whole Scatter Site

         18  program, it's a disaster. It's taking units off the

         19  private market which are needed there if we're ever

         20  going to get to the end of homelessness.

         21                 So, I think that your very difficult

         22  job is to make it easier for the right solutions to

         23  be implemented, and that involves being champions of

         24  supportive housing and other types of responses to

         25  homelessness that are sensitive to communities,
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          2  responsible to communities, and become community

          3  assets.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: I'm struck by a

          5  couple of things you said, and I want to just ask a

          6  couple of questions. If I can have Mr. Braconi's

          7  indulgence for just a moment, I want to ask a couple

          8  of questions while it's fresh.

          9                 I was very struck in particular about

         10  your point about how you make a facility into a

         11  positive for a community, and I think the security

         12  piece in particular is something obviously people

         13  are always looking for.

         14                 Has the Administration in any way

         15  engaged you on using the models that you have for

         16  the work they're doing?

         17                 MS. HAGGERTY: With respect to siting

         18  shelters, Councilman?

         19                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Correct.

         20                 MS. HAGGERTY: No. But I do have to

         21  say at HPD there is a new task force that Tim

         22  O'Hanlon, who is the Assistant Commissioner for

         23  Supportive Housing, has just pulled together to look

         24  at this issue, how to educate communities around

         25  supportive housing, and how to have maybe some of
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          2  the more experienced groups, like Common Ground,

          3  mentor newer groups to the process so that they

          4  understand effective ways of engaging communities.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: And I don't

          6  want to put you on any kind of cross-fire here,

          7  what's troubling to me is when I hear you lay out

          8  this elegantly simple concept, you know, let's make

          9  this a positive, not a negative, and here are the

         10  core components, and you just said them better than

         11  any of us could, you know, the bringing people in

         12  early, having the dialogue with them, putting

         13  yourselves in the community's shoes, which I have to

         14  say bureaucracies historically have a horrible time

         15  doing, thinking about what the community would want,

         16  having accountability, having someone in charge,

         17  having transparency and providing tours and all of

         18  that, it's revolutionary and yet very simple.

         19                 And what I'm troubled by is the idea

         20  that we're still having these hearings trying to

         21  convince the Administration to pay attention to

         22  these concepts, you know, granted it's an

         23  atmospheric crisis and a lot is going on, but I mean

         24  do you know of any systematic effort? I mean, I

         25  guess I'm just kind of astounded, I mean are people
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          2  brought in, as far as you know, who have had

          3  successful efforts in communities to talk about it?

          4  Except I'm talking about the Department of Homeless

          5  Services.

          6                 MS. HAGGERTY: Here we're against the

          7  fact that there is a big distinction, Council

          8  Member, between supportive housing and homeless

          9  shelters.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Yes.

         11                 MS. HAGGERTY: And I think often it's

         12  a different group of providers who are doing the one

         13  and not the other. And so in the supportive housing

         14  development community, this is very much a topic on

         15  our agenda, the Supportive Housing Network of New

         16  York is taking us on as far as creating a formal

         17  mentoring program within it, HPD is very engaged in

         18  the issue, we've enlisted several foundations to

         19  start thinking about this, and perhaps supporting

         20  ways that we could do a better public education

         21  campaign.

         22                 I've been on a bit of a mission,

         23  especially with -- we have such strong relationships

         24  with our community boards, I've been at Board 4 and

         25  Board 5 recently saying, help us think about this,
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          2  how can we enlist the rest of the community boards

          3  in the City to get to the same level of comfort and

          4  understanding that you're at, and in fact at Board

          5  4, folks there suggested maybe they and Board 5

          6  could host something with the Borough Board and be a

          7  champion of a better process and educational

          8  campaign to help community board members understand

          9  the difference between supportive housing and

         10  shelters.

         11                 To a point you made earlier with

         12  Commissioner Gibbs, we don't have the same gun to

         13  our head phenomenon that she does. She's got 100 new

         14  families, she's got to get them housed tonight. We

         15  can be more planful.

         16                 Which is not to say, you know, there

         17  isn't a lot in what we do that wouldn't be useful

         18  for any agency with any type of project to also do.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Right. I mean,

         20  obviously, I want to see if any of my colleagues

         21  have any immediate questions for you.

         22                 I really do respect and understand

         23  the crisis atmosphere that's pervading DHS, but

         24  generally speaking it's my impression that the

         25  target areas, the target opportunities for where to
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          2  site a shelter are known well in advance. Maybe the

          3  actual contracts or the actual decision to go on

          4  line take time, but my impression is there's very

          5  few sort of surprise things that happen in this

          6  process from the planning point of view, and in

          7  effect you could be starting a community

          8  consultation process even before you've made a

          9  formal decision to tap a site, because of the

         10  likelihood that you will eventually need that site.

         11  Again, I don't mean to ask you to comment on things

         12  you're not immediately in the middle of, but I find

         13  it frustrating that it seems to be -- there's

         14  doesn't seem to be a lot of interest in how to

         15  reduce those tensions.

         16                 MS. HAGGERTY: I'll just maybe play

         17  devil's advocate for a moment in the way of just

         18  trying to illuminate this, and while we spend almost

         19  all our time when we're getting ready to do a new

         20  project, putting ourselves in the position of the

         21  neighbors, and what are the concerns, the legitimate

         22  concerns that need to be addressed and anticipated,

         23  I have to tell you, for my co-workers and me, even

         24  though we're very good at this, we're very committed

         25  to it and we insist on doing it right and doing it
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          2  thoroughly and doing it well, it's a sort of process

          3  that is, you know, ulcer producing - you get yelled

          4  at, you get abused a lot, you know, there are a lot

          5  of incentives to duck and run, to not share

          6  information, to not be candid, to not go early, and,

          7  so, I think the City Council's leadership in

          8  realizing that, you know, not-for-profit agencies,

          9  you know, especially those that are not well

         10  staffed, I mean I find it's important that the

         11  leader of the organization go out and do this,

         12  because I wouldn't send my co-workers out to get

         13  yelled at. But it's a huge commitment of time. It

         14  must be done, but it means that groups like Common

         15  Ground, who, you know, have the capacity to produce

         16  a lot of housing, we kind of have to work

         17  sequentially. We can't do a lot at once because

         18  every one project needs to be so carefully nurtured.

         19  And I do wonder at times whether there isn't some

         20  better way, if there wasn't, you know, if we

         21  couldn't get this resolved once and for all, we do a

         22  great project, we'll help you, we'll be responsive,

         23  you know, you can trust us, but you can't just kind

         24  of get a blanket exception, it seems every single

         25  project requires, you know, a new relationship with

                                                            107

          1  COMMITTEE ON GENERAL WELFARE

          2  the immediate neighbors, and that's appropriate. But

          3  if there's something that can be done to make the

          4  process more civil, more straightforward, I think

          5  you'd have less resistance to the kind of open

          6  exchange that will really benefit everyone in the

          7  end.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Very good.

          9                 I just wanted to see if Gale or

         10  Kendall had a question for Ms. Haggerty before we go

         11  to Mr. Braconi?

         12                 Go ahead, Gale.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Very quick

         14  question. I think when you and Lora Jervis do

         15  projects, it's the best, and, so, it's a different

         16  category. And this is my question, and, again, maybe

         17  you can't answer it, but when Linda Gibbs brought in

         18  the scatter site for West 83rd Street, one of the

         19  challenges is the gentleman who is sort of the

         20  middle man hired a firm from the Bronx, I don't know

         21  them, and maybe they're good, maybe they're not, it

         22  would have saved us a whole lot of time and energy,

         23  I said, okay, pick any one of the west side groups,

         24  there's about four or five of them, I don't care,

         25  Goddard, Lora, anybody, we know them, you have no
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          2  discussion, we welcome them, you have money, you

          3  have support, you have everything you want, but she

          4  said to me, well, I can't recommend that, that would

          5  be sort of sole sourcing kind of situation.

          6                 I don't agree with that, and I think

          7  that, you know, maybe some discussion about a local

          8  group that would in fact provide better services for

          9  the individuals who are so-called homeless, in a

         10  sense that hopefully they won't be, and they would

         11  be less so quicker because of that support.

         12                 So, there's some dialogue that needs

         13  to take place there.

         14                 MS. HAGGERTY: I totally agree with

         15  you. I think in that case, especially where you have

         16  the community saying we understand your need --

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: We want to.

         18                 MS. HAGGERTY: Let us resolve this in

         19  a way that helps you, and has the least negative

         20  impact, the most positive impact on us.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Right.

         22                 MS. HAGGERTY: This is a compelling

         23  situation that requires different rules I think.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Here would be

         25  an example where I would almost figure out a way of
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          2  mandating without, as long as we're within the

          3  contracting procedures of a local organization, at

          4  least being given the right of first refusal.

          5                 MS. HAGGERTY: Sure. One assumes that

          6  all of those organizations would have up-to-date

          7  Vendexes, would be legitimate, you know, current

          8  City contractors.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Absolutely.

         10                 MS. HAGGERTY: That there should be a

         11  way to get around that.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: And we're

         13  willing to do it.

         14                 MS. HAGGERTY: Yes.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Never offered.

         16                 Thank you.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: I get the

         18  feeling that a number of these departments are not

         19  really working with each other.

         20                 I know with HPD they, if you have an

         21  abandoned building in your neighborhood, and they

         22  have the different programs whereby someone, even if

         23  it's one tenant in that building, and it happened

         24  recently, 20-family building, two people remaining

         25  in the building, and that building we probably stole
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          2  it or give it away to those, to families.  And then

          3  they would be housing, you know, tenants later and

          4  after they fix it, they'll get the 34 years of tax

          5  abatement and they get all these goodies, and I'm

          6  saying, couldn't this Department work with HPD so

          7  that those 18 apartments could have been renovated

          8  and help the homeless? Why couldn't we do that? Why

          9  are they not working together?

         10                 MS. HAGGERTY: Yes, music to my ears.

         11  I always wonder the same thing, are we getting

         12  enough public benefit out of some of our disposition

         13  strategies, with City-owned property, City-assisted

         14  property.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: Right.

         16                 MS. HAGGERTY: On the one hand you

         17  have Commissioner Gibbs agency overwhelmed, and on

         18  the other hand a very aggressive disposition and a

         19  housing strategy, are they connected enough; and I

         20  think it's a fine question and one that I hope you

         21  stick with.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: And there are

         23  other -- I know there are some building projects in

         24  the Bronx, which now HPD has been holding up in the

         25  apartments already and for the past eight months,
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          2  eight months nothing has been done. In other words,

          3  these apartments are now being vandalized after

          4  they've been rehabbed and all of that because of

          5  some little conflict with the builders. You know,

          6  I'm not too sure that you have these connections,

          7  and I think someone should look at the connection,

          8  if we can do something with that.

          9                 MS. HAGGERTY: You're absolutely

         10  right, and I think even farther down the line, for

         11  instance, foster care, prisons and jails, HHC, where

         12  do people come from who are homeless, and, you know,

         13  why isn't all this information coordinated?

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: Thank you.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Thank you,

         16  Council member.

         17                 Mr. Braconi.

         18                 MR. BRACONI: Sure. Thank you. My name

         19  is Frank Braconi, Executive Director of Citizens

         20  Housing and Planning Council. I'm here as a planner

         21  and an economist, that's what I do, both. Unlike

         22  Roseanne, I have to work two jobs, but I'm here

         23  primarily to talk about some of the planning

         24  implications of these issues. It shouldn't be

         25  surprising that I will echo to some degree
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          2  Roseanne's comments because we've been talking about

          3  these between us for many years already, but

          4  certainly the first and foremost on an issue like

          5  homeless shelters is minimizing the need for them. I

          6  mean, these are facilities that in an ideal

          7  situation, if one takes the systems approach to the

          8  problem, we shouldn't need very many of them and

          9  certainly not 30,000 or 40,000 beds or whatever the

         10  current targets are, and in a sense, you know, the

         11  issue that was raised earlier about over-saturation,

         12  I mean the City of New York is over-saturated with

         13  these things, and we need to find ways to solve the

         14  problems in a more permanent basis.

         15                 That more permanent basis, especially

         16  with regard to the single homelessness, but you

         17  know, it has a role in the family homelessness as

         18  well, the supported housing. I suppose one of the

         19  frustrating things about sitting here and listening

         20  to us talk about expanded shelter system again is

         21  that it's one of the problems that we have an answer

         22  to and nevertheless we continue to kind of fuel the

         23  problem.

         24                 So, the types of projects that

         25  Roseanne has been involved in and others, are
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          2  extremely important in dealing with this issue, and

          3  minimizing these situations that you all are

          4  concerned with in your constituencies.

          5                 And the second point I want to make

          6  is that, we should look at the planning principles

          7  that are embodied in the fair share criteria,

          8  because they are good ones, they're sound ones and I

          9  think they can make a big difference. Whether or not

         10  individual facilities, depending on how they're

         11  funded and contracted, you know, come under the fair

         12  share, it doesn't negate the principles that are

         13  embodied in it.

         14                 Just to run through them very

         15  quickly, I mean one is a balancing of factors, and

         16  this had come up before possibly by Mr. Perkins,

         17  that, you know, community needs is one consideration

         18  to rebalance, but not the only consideration,

         19  efficient service delivery and the community impacts

         20  or others.

         21                 Sound planning, zoning and budgetary

         22  principles I couldn't agree more, and I think it

         23  gets to that moment about the sound planning and

         24  zoning issues, extremely important in these kind of

         25  issues.
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          2                 Avoiding concentrations in

          3  residential areas in particular, especially in

          4  evaluating cumulative impacts that had been

          5  mentioned earlier this morning.

          6                 Census building in consultation,

          7  which Roseanne has just given you her expert

          8  testimony on.

          9                 And, finally, monitoring I think is

         10  very important, we should stress that a little bit

         11  more this morning. Even after something is in with

         12  all the consultations, you start to watch it, follow

         13  it and monitor it, and in the fair share, in

         14  particular, there is an article that allows the

         15  community board and borough president to establish a

         16  monitoring committee to follow a facility, and I

         17  think it's very important.

         18                 Now, sort of the basic ideas of the

         19  fair share, and I just want to address two things

         20  that had come up already in the morning's

         21  discussion, and one, Councilman DeBlasio, that you

         22  had mentioned earlier, I just want to warn about,

         23  when you talk about the objective, establishing

         24  objective criteria on the fair share and otherwise,

         25  my organization was heavily involved in the original

                                                            115

          1  COMMITTEE ON GENERAL WELFARE

          2  adoption of the fair share criteria, that was about

          3  ten years ago, and I'll tell you at that time the

          4  initial discussion was a very quantitative one. And

          5  I think a quantitative approach and an objective

          6  approach can be easily confused and they're not the

          7  same thing, and when the Department of City Planning

          8  in its original drafts was exploring a more

          9  quantitative approach that it ultimately adopted, it

         10  was not necessarily objective, it was basically a

         11  lot of different constituencies lobbying to get

         12  their preferences written into the so-called

         13  objective criteria. And, so, I think it can be a

         14  very kind of slippery slope when you start to put

         15  planning on auto pilot through numerical standards

         16  and I would caution against it.

         17                 Now, that also works in both ways,

         18  whether it's establishing quantitative criteria that

         19  prevent, that say, all right, this community is

         20  overburdened, you know, we should not put any more

         21  in or it has a higher ratio than some other

         22  communities. So, you know, I think it's dangerous to

         23  do that, but it's also dangerous to do the opposite,

         24  as Mr. Perkins was saying. To say that X amount of

         25  residents originated in this community, or the
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          2  homeless population originated in this community,

          3  hence X amount should go back into it. I think

          4  that's a filaceous logic as well, and in both cases,

          5  good planning, or whatever, you know, trump those

          6  kind of simplistic quantitative measures.

          7                 And, in fact, if I'm here to say

          8  anything, it's that good planning can go a long way,

          9  and you know, as Roseanne was saying earlier, the

         10  context was very meaningful. There are places in the

         11  City, I suppose, you know, Roseanne's stellar

         12  facilities, given the scale that they are, et

         13  cetera, you know, would not be as welcome as they

         14  were in places that you chose to do them. And I

         15  think that's wise planning, and in places that she

         16  has developed, whether it's in Times Square Prince

         17  George, didn't bring a net benefit to the community,

         18  but that was central for the context that she was

         19  operating in those cases. And I don't think that we

         20  could ever talk about these facilities independent

         21  of the neighborhood context that we're involved in.

         22                 So, I think that you can -- it's not

         23  always make facilities, whether they're homeless

         24  facilities or other service facilities, net benefits

         25  to a community. I think in the case of Times Square
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          2  and others you have -- Roseanne and Common Ground

          3  has done that, that's a very high standard to live

          4  up to. You're not always going to make them, you

          5  know, net benefits to a community, but you can

          6  certainly mitigate the impacts on the communities

          7  and make them relatively small and diffuse impacts

          8  with careful planning and a wise site policy.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: I want to just

         10  quickly, one response, one question, and

         11  unfortunately we're going to have a time crunch on

         12  other folks who want to testify, so I'll be quick.

         13                 Mr. Braconi, I appreciate the way you

         14  said it about quote/unquote objective criteria, and

         15  I think your caution is very well taken. I am

         16  worried I guess from what I heard from Commissioner

         17  Gibbs that right now it's a little bit -- what's the

         18  word I'm looking for? It's a little bit in the mind

         19  of one person, or a small number of people, and not

         20  a process that can be tracked, at least in the case

         21  of Department of Homeless Services. And I just

         22  think, I think if I can borrow from Ms. Haggerty's

         23  testimony, getting the community to be comfortable I

         24  think begins at the point of decision. You know

         25  there's faith that a decision was made properly, I
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          2  think that does add to it, and there is faith that a

          3  process is kind of visible and open and somewhat

          4  consistent it adds to it. That may be a little too

          5  abstract, but your caution is right, anything

          6  quote/unquote objective or quantitative can be

          7  manipulated in any number of ways, I guess maybe

          8  transparent is more to the point, transparency, some

          9  kind of ability to follow the process as it

         10  proceeds, unlike now where it's basically just

         11  decided and announced and you don't really know how

         12  the decision was made.

         13                 My specific question is, do you think

         14  it's fair, as a matter of planning, do you think

         15  it's fair to take into account what I would call

         16  almost perception, that if a community, and I'll

         17  take some of the communities that Diana Reyna

         18  represents, for example, is in the midst of some

         19  kind of come back, you know, some kind of

         20  development is finally starting, and, you know, many

         21  of them were communities that were devastated during

         22  the seventies for a variety of reasons, isn't it

         23  fair to say that siting of social service facilities

         24  has to be looked at in light of other trends in the

         25  community to make sure it doesn't inadvertently
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          2  inhibit those trends? It's not to say we don't use

          3  site facilities, it's just to say we have to be

          4  mindful that we're sort of on the left-hand trying

          5  to create economic development, on the right hand

          6  siting facilities that might make an area less

          7  desirable or less unified or whatever it may be,

          8  somehow we have to bring those pieces together; do

          9  you think that's true?

         10                 MR. BRACONI: Absolutely. Absolutely.

         11  And that's I think where planning comes in.

         12                 By the way, on the quantitative

         13  measures, there's a big difference between

         14  quantitative analysis, which I think should go on.

         15  For instance, you know, the Department of Homeless

         16  Services or the City Council, should be aware of the

         17  amount of beds in each community, et cetera, et

         18  cetera. That's, it's a far cry to like writing them

         19  into rules, whether they're fair share rules or

         20  something else, and I think that political judgment

         21  or planning judgment should always prevail over some

         22  kind of -- any kind of formula rule. But certainly

         23  evaluating things on a quantitative level is useful,

         24  you know, in coming to a decision.

         25                 But, sure, that's one of the
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          2  considerations that should be taken into account. I

          3  mean, you look at the context, I mean there may be a

          4  lot of -- well, for example, I think probably

          5  midtown Manhattan has a disproportionate share of

          6  the single homeless beds, and, so, if you consider

          7  supportive housing it would.

          8                 There's nothing wrong with that,

          9  because midtown Manhattan is an environment that can

         10  absorb them. The same ratio put in, you know,

         11  Southeast Queens, or in South Brooklyn somewhere

         12  might be entirely different impacts.

         13                 So, that's why I say, you can't go

         14  with a straight ratio, regardless of which side

         15  you're arguing from, in some sense nullifies good

         16  urban planning.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: I want to thank

         18  you. I'll just editorialize as this panel ends that,

         19  you know, again, a lot of what this hearing is about

         20  is saying there needs to be that kind of

         21  sensitivity, that even in the atmosphere of crisis,

         22  realizing that putting a facility in, what's the

         23  psychic impact on the neighborhood, what's the

         24  impact on the reputation, if you will, of the

         25  neighborhood, because a lot of neighborhoods are in
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          2  the process of coming back, it's a very thin line

          3  between the success and failure of an effort to

          4  resurrect a neighborhood, particularly in the middle

          5  of an economic crisis, and I think people are

          6  rightfully, and I think they deserve a lot more

          7  respect. It's not always a Not In My Back Yard

          8  reaction, it also can be a reaction to just how

          9  fragile the process of economic recovery is and how

         10  careful a neighborhood has to be not to let that tip

         11  back the wrong way.

         12                 I want to thank both of you. It's

         13  been very, very helpful testimony, and we'll be

         14  continuing to work with you on this issue going

         15  forward.

         16                 We have some other witnesses from the

         17  community I would like to call up. We've only got

         18  about a half hour left in this room before the next

         19  hearing, so I'd like people to try please to keep

         20  your core comments to about two minutes.

         21                 All comments, all written testimony

         22  will be entered into the record, as well.

         23                 I'd like to call forward a panel of

         24  some of the community board representatives, if

         25  they're here now. Nadine Whitted Negrone of CB 4;
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          2  Anna Gonzalez of CB 4; James Bowens of CB 16 and

          3  Viola Green of CB 16. If they're here, please step

          4  forward to the witness table.

          5                 Let's see how many people we've got.

          6  Two people. Okay, I'm going to call up, let me call

          7  up one more, Theresa Cianciotta. Beautiful name.

          8  It's a beautiful name. That is a beautiful name, she

          9  gets special rights. Community Board 1. And we'll

         10  just go from left to right, and, again, please keep

         11  your initial comments to about two minutes. Thank

         12  you.

         13                 Please introduce yourself.

         14                 MS. WITTED: Yes, good afternoon. My

         15  name is Nadine Whitted, and I'm the District Manager

         16  for Brooklyn Community Board No. 4. Both Council

         17  Member Eric Martin Dilan, as well as Diana Reyna

         18  represent my district, and I thank you for giving us

         19  the opportunity to talk to you about our concerns

         20  with shelters.

         21                 Recently Brooklyn Community Board No.

         22  4 was in receipt of a letter from the Department of

         23  Homeless Services dated April 16th. That letter

         24  designates address number 9 to 27 Arian Place in

         25  Brooklyn, Bushwick, to house a 67-bed family
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          2  shelter.

          3                 Our community has really become

          4  over-saturated with shelters. We are the community

          5  of Bushwick. We are that community that underwent

          6  all of those riots of the seventies. We have

          7  shelters throughout our community, and the

          8  Department of Homeless Services continuously targets

          9  more sites, not taking into consideration location

         10  or over-saturation.

         11                 Inasmuch as to propose 89 Porter

         12  Avenue Man's (sic) Shelter actually falls in

         13  Community Board No. 1, our community, Bushwick, will

         14  ultimately feel the burden of this facility. This

         15  conversation of a proposed shelter at 1226 Fortune

         16  Avenue, that shelter is scheduled to house 67

         17  families. That is in fact in our boundaries, and

         18  it's located just a mere two blocks away from the

         19  Porter Avenue site.

         20                 There's been some more conversation

         21  concerning the shelter at Broadway and Putnam

         22  Avenue. You know, we say why in our neighborhood?

         23                 Currently in Community Board No. 4 we

         24  have the following Department of Homeless Services

         25  shelters, we have one at 1675 Broadway, 87 families;
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          2  99-103 Stockholm Street, 26 families; 1240 Broadway,

          3  164 homeless women; 629 Chauncy Street, 62 units for

          4  couples.

          5                 Okay, you guys mentioned the

          6  supportive or the scatter site, we have undercovered

          7  a countless number of Department of Homeless

          8  Services scatter site locations in our district.

          9                 We've all worked very hard to

         10  maintain services in our community, and to rebuild

         11  the community. How can we justify to our community

         12  the building of additional shelters when in our same

         13  community they're closing firehouses?

         14                 I thank you, and I hope that these

         15  comments and others are taken into consideration.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: They certainly

         17  will be, and I appreciate the clarity of your

         18  remarks and giving us these real numbers. It helps

         19  us to understand the situation.

         20                 Yes, sir, please introduce yourself.

         21                 MR. BOWENS: Thank you. Good

         22  afternoon. My name is James Bowens. I'm the Chairman

         23  of Community Board 16 in Brooklyn, and I'm here to

         24  make a statement about the homeless. I was listening

         25  to the Commissioner's remark where boards are
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          2  notified that these places are coming, and you're

          3  given notices. Well, I wish she was here so I could

          4  tell her about the notice we got Friday and it

          5  opened up on Monday, you know, cause they don't tell

          6  us. They don't want us to know because they figure

          7  we'll have a little opposition against them.

          8                 We have the new unit that she's

          9  talking about for 200 beds, at 1-25 Union Street, I

         10  got three other shelters less than two blocks away.

         11  Nobody is considering what's happening to the

         12  community in Brownsville, and I'm from Brownsville,

         13  by the way, we have more shelters, more social

         14  programs than we deserve. And to talk about fair

         15  share, there is no fair share when it comes down to

         16  Community Board 16, anything they want to dump, they

         17  dump.

         18                 We're in the process now of

         19  rebuilding a new community. We have quite a bit of

         20  brand new houses down there. How can you sell a

         21  person a house for $290,000 with a man's shelter on

         22  the corner or around the corner from his house?

         23  You're defeating our purpose, and we're here to cry

         24  out relief, relief. There's got to be some relief

         25  somewhere, because otherwise we will not be able to
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          2  continue to build, we want a viable, growing

          3  neighborhood, we have young people out there, we

          4  want them to grow up to be something and be

          5  somebody, but if the homeless shelter is going to

          6  keep playing this game with us about they notify us,

          7  they do not notify us, they notify us the Monday

          8  before they open up.

          9                 And the Women In Need, we have them

         10  in three locations now. We have them in a place

         11  where there's going to be a war because the people

         12  don't want them there, and they're getting ready,

         13  between the Women In Need and the residents of Noble

         14  Alley Drew Housing in Brooklyn, is going to be a

         15  problem, they took 260 women in there and nobody

         16  knew about it until they was in there. This creates

         17  problems in the community. It creates hostility

         18  between the residents, against the elected officials

         19  and everybody else in the community, we didn't know

         20  about it until they were there. Now Women In Need

         21  has got another unit, 200 beds, they're building on

         22  it, they want to open that up in the next couple of

         23  weeks. They already got one up on Atlantic Avenue,

         24  200 beds, I mean all together they're talking about

         25  600 beds. We have over 1,600 beds in Brownsville
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          2  right now that's used every day. Think about that,

          3  1,600 units. I wish they would show me another

          4  community that's got 1,600 units, and they won't

          5  give us an answer. And, so, you know, I came to the

          6  City Council this morning to find some relief, and

          7  to get some of this pressure off of us, because

          8  we're fighting like you're throwing sand against the

          9  tide, you know, you throw out one shovel and ten

         10  comes back, you know what I mean?

         11                 So, I came this morning to maybe hope

         12  that somewhere along the way Mr. Leon could find us

         13  some relief because it's a lot of pressure down

         14  there.

         15                 Our Councilperson is Tracy and

         16  Charles Barron, and I came over here with Leon

         17  because a piece of his district runs into my

         18  district. So, we're looking for relief down in 16

         19  and any way we can get it, we're just about due for

         20  it, and I don't want to say that we're going to

         21  raise hell, because that's not the thing to do

         22  because we're not against homeless.

         23                 This is the point that I want

         24  everybody to understand, we are not against homeless

         25  people. We're against putting it all in my back
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          2  yard. Now, that's what we're against. We're saying

          3  share it, spread it out, give everybody a piece of

          4  it, and that's it.

          5                 So, I just want the record to show

          6  that 16 is not opposed to homeless people, but we're

          7  opposed to the way they distribute it, the

          8  facilities and everything. So, thank you very much.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Thank you. I

         10  appreciate you saying that so clearly. I think

         11  that's very important, and sometimes I think the

         12  Administration kind of stereotypes all of us as, you

         13  know, because we raise these concerns, sometimes

         14  that suggests some opposition providing this

         15  service, I don't think anyone today is saying we

         16  don't need a provide a service to people in need.

         17  This is all about whether we're really working in a

         18  fair share environment or not, and this sudden

         19  increase in number of shelters, and I remind

         20  everyone of this, 24 more planned in the upcoming

         21  fiscal year, this is the time to really take a deep

         22  breath and say do we need to change this strategy

         23  for siting, both in terms of where we're siting

         24  these shelters, and how we work with the community.

         25                 Ms. Cianciotta.

                                                            129

          1  COMMITTEE ON GENERAL WELFARE

          2                 MS. CIANCIOTTA: Yes.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Welcome.

          4                 MS. CIANCIOTTA: Welcome. Good

          5  morning, Chairperson DeBlasio and Committee Council

          6  Members. My name is Theresa Cianciotta, and I speak

          7  on behalf of Community Board No. 1 in Brooklyn, and

          8  I am also the Chairperson of the Shelter Committee.

          9                 I'll try to be as brief as possible,

         10  but I have a little bit of old history that I think

         11  is very necessary at this point to share with you.

         12                 The community of Greenpoint,

         13  Williamsburg, Brooklyn had a men's shelter smuggled

         14  into the former Greenpoint Hospital, located at 300

         15  Skillman Avenue on August the 16th, 1983, by New

         16  York City's Department of Human Resources, that's

         17  HRA.

         18                 It initially began with 40 homeless

         19  men. We are a community that had to deal with all

         20  the negative impacts from the so-called temporary

         21  facility. It housed over a period of time, almost to

         22  the case, 1,100 homeless persons.

         23                 The Administration obtained a legal

         24  consent decree then that allowed for the conversion

         25  of the former Greenpoint Hospital to become a men's
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          2  shelter.

          3                 I want to add that the elected

          4  officials, then Community Board 1 and the community

          5  at large were never informed by HRA. There was no

          6  form of communication, no public forum, the

          7  community was shocked because the Greenpoint

          8  Renaissance Enterprise Corporation with a group of

          9  six local organizations were planning in the early

         10  stages for housing, health care facility and a

         11  nursing home at the former closed Greenpoint

         12  Hospital.

         13                 There were many demonstrations and we

         14  wanted our fair share. We aren't a NIMBY community,

         15  we understood the seriousness in poverty

         16  homelessness that was created in the early eighties.

         17  Actually, the City took advantage of our community.

         18                 Finally, after 16 years of struggling

         19  for our fair share, our legal lawsuit acquired

         20  Brooklyn Legal Services and Grec (phonetic), proved

         21  that the City didn't follow the ULURP process and

         22  state and city Environmental Quality Review Process.

         23                 The buildings were released and today

         24  the Grec plan has 45 units of affordable homeless

         25  housing in four different buildings.
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          2                 We are now in the final stages for a

          3  health care facility and a nursing home.

          4                 The former Greenpoint Men's Shelter

          5  is now named the Barbara Klieman Residence, and

          6  under the past leadership of Commissioner of the

          7  Department of Homeless Services, Gordon Campbell,

          8  the armory-type facility finally was downsized to

          9  200 by 1998.

         10                 However, once again the failure of

         11  the Department of Homeless Services to inform anyone

         12  from the Community Board No. 1 or the elected

         13  officials, about the intent to site another homeless

         14  facility at 8911 Porter Avenue in East Williamsburg,

         15  within the boundaries of Community Board 1.

         16                 The first indication was listed as a

         17  public hearing of February 22nd, 2000, in the City

         18  record. Changes are necessary. The public must be

         19  informed of sitings for homeless shelters. The

         20  public must be involved and community forums are

         21  necessary.

         22                 A fair share concept is needed in a

         23  system that is over-saturated. Our community was

         24  over-saturated, the City took advantage of our

         25  community, and today there is still a legal case at
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          2  the Appellate Division of the Brooklyn Supreme

          3  Court. It's a case against the 400-bed shelter under

          4  construction at 89 Porter Avenue.

          5                 The case argues that the Porter

          6  Avenue shelter skirted the City's own Land Use rules

          7  by laundering the project without proper approach --

          8  approvals, including public hearings and an

          9  environmental review.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: I'm just going

         11  to ask you to sum up a little bit now.

         12                 MS. CIANCIOTTA: I'm going to sum up

         13  now. I just want to add that in housing for the

         14  homeless, the Community Board urges support and

         15  continuation of the census at different temporary

         16  shelters, and that expensive temporary housing must

         17  be replaced with permanent low-renting housing,

         18  including housing for single individuals in each

         19  community district.

         20                 We urge the expansion of support

         21  services identifying and addressing additional

         22  social needs of homeless individuals, and I just

         23  want to sum it up that Community Board 1 opposes the

         24  Department of Homeless Services plans of shelter

         25  8911 Porter Avenue and that it maintains a shelter
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          2  at the current location in Manhattan. It seems that

          3  anything that Manhattan doesn't want falls under

          4  Community Board No. 1 dwelling.

          5                 So, please consider my remarks. We

          6  know there's a long history here. Actually my

          7  husband is here, we were part of the lawsuit, and I

          8  am now the Chairperson and I had a lot of experience

          9  because we suffered all of these years. Siting

         10  regulations and community input, that's very key,

         11  and we don't want anymore homeless providers, we've

         12  had enough. We want to continue to rebuild our

         13  community.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Thank you.

         15                 MS. CIANCIOTTA: We've worked for

         16  almost five years, and we're almost reaching our

         17  goal.

         18                 And other additional shelters are

         19  being proposed, there's no way. We really can't have

         20  additional facilities. Other communities have to

         21  bear some of the burden.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: First of all,

         23  thank you for the history lesson. It always helps.

         24  Because sometimes a new administration comes in and

         25  they think, well, we're doing these things, they're
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          2  fair, and why isn't everyone understanding, when

          3  they're forgetting there's 20 or 30 years of history

          4  that make people feel so deeply. And by the way, all

          5  of us who live in our communities and have lived in

          6  our communities, as opposed to people who come into

          7  government for the first time, for example, and

          8  don't understand what we've been through.

          9                 But I want to thank you also for not

         10  only the activism in the community, but for the

         11  balanced message you're sending.

         12                 What I appreciate about this whole

         13  panel is no one can say you're trying to do anything

         14  that undermine the needs of the homeless, you're

         15  trying to talk about fairness for the community.

         16                 And as a Brooklynite, I would say, I

         17  think your point about how Manhattan seems to spill

         18  over to Brooklyn sometimes is a well taken point.

         19                 So, thank you all. Thank you very

         20  much to this panel, and all of your comments will be

         21  in the formal record as well.

         22                 I'd like to call up the next panel.

         23  Jose Leon; Michael Rochford; and Horale Foster, Jr.

         24  And, again, I apologize. I know everyone has been

         25  very patient.  If you can keep your initial comments
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          2  to two minutes so we can have some questions before

          3  we have this room usurped.

          4                 Mr. Leon.

          5                 MR. LEON: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

          6                 Good afternoon, fellow City Council

          7  Members. My name is Jose Leon, I'm with the East

          8  Williamsburg Valley Industrial Development

          9  Corporation, and I'm here today to express some of

         10  the concerns, or one primary concern of the

         11  businesses in the East Williamsburg Industrial Park.

         12                 Over the past two years our

         13  businesses have seen a growing interest by

         14  government agencies to site homeless facilities in

         15  industry communities.

         16                 Such an act goes against the very

         17  nature of the creation of the industrial parks, and

         18  undermines economic development plans implemented

         19  for industry communities.

         20                 One such facility is currently

         21  underway on 89 Porter Avenue, off Johnson Avenue, a

         22  400-bed shelter for homeless men.

         23                 This facility will be surrounded by

         24  several diverse manufacturers and industrial

         25  businesses, and directly across from the largest
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          2  waste transfers facility in New York City.

          3                 Another facility similar to physical

          4  size and nature was aggressively pursued to house 90

          5  troubled teenagers at 488 Morgan Avenue, just nine

          6  blocks from the 89 Porter Avenue shelter.

          7                 Fortunately, this site was recently

          8  removed for development due to the coordinated

          9  efforts of local residents, businesses and

         10  Assemblyman Vito Lopez.

         11                 A third location is now being

         12  considered for another shelter facility in Flushing

         13  Avenue, around the corner of the Porter Avenue

         14  Shelter.

         15                 East Williamsburg Industrial Park

         16  businesses are concerned that the East Williamsburg

         17  Industrial Park in New York City overall is no

         18  longer a place for industrial businesses to do

         19  business.

         20                 Industrial parks are being used as

         21  locations to warehouse shelter facilities and other

         22  unwanted uses throughout New York City.

         23                 This contradicts the purpose and goal

         24  of industrial parks, particularly in the East

         25  Williamsburg Industrial Park, as it is a large
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          2  component of the North Brooklyn Empire Zone, the

          3  State Economic Development Program aimed at

          4  attracting and retaining businesses, particularly

          5  industrial jobs.

          6                 The 500 businesses in the park employ

          7  over 15,000 people, the majority from the local

          8  communities. Should these businesses decide to find

          9  a new home in New Jersey or Pennsylvania, the local

         10  economy in North Brooklyn would be severely

         11  affected.

         12                 Shelter facilities require locations

         13  that provide ample ancillary services so that an

         14  individual can transition back to society,

         15  facilities such as hospitals, community centers,

         16  social service programs, educational institutions

         17  and others are inquiring for the development of a

         18  person. Industrial parks do not provide these

         19  services, nor should they, as they are intended to

         20  provide a haven for industrial businesses to produce

         21  and move goods in and out of the City.

         22                 Given the fiscal crisis a City is

         23  faced with, and the increased cost in owning and

         24  operating a business in the City, New York City

         25  should be doing more to protect and encourage the
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          2  expansion and retention of industrial bases, such as

          3  industrial parks and not hinder the development.

          4                 The use of industrial property for

          5  non-industrial use hinders this progress and the

          6  overall economic plan for the community.

          7                 Thank you.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Thank you very

          9  much.

         10                 MR. ROCHFORD: Good morning. My name

         11  is Michael Rochford, and I'm Executive Director of

         12  the St. Nicholas Neighborhood Preservation

         13  Corporation. We're also in Williamsburg, Greenpoint,

         14  Brooklyn, and our district is represented by

         15  Councilwoman Diana Reyna.

         16                 We, as an organization we're

         17  community-based, we're committed to revitalizing

         18  Williamsburg and Greenpoint to the benefit of low

         19  and moderate income people.

         20                 We've built over 2,000 units of

         21  affordable housing, we provide health care, home

         22  care services, we serve youth and families and

         23  workforce development for the long-term unemployed.

         24                 About 20 percent of our new housing

         25  development is set aside for homeless families. In
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          2  addition to that we operate several facilities that

          3  are permanent housing for homeless families, and in

          4  addition we provide 180 units for people living with

          5  AIDS who otherwise would be classified as homeless

          6  and many mentally ill and chemically dependent, if

          7  it were not for their medical condition.

          8                 So, we're well aware of the need and

          9  the struggle that the City faces in regards to

         10  finding housing for the formerly homeless or

         11  homeless families, as well as other special needs

         12  individuals.

         13                 I won't go through some of the

         14  history that I think our community, I think Ms.

         15  Cianciotta spoke about what had happened at the

         16  Greenpoint shelter, but I will point out and

         17  reinforce that the only relief we ever found, was

         18  through a lawsuit that proved the City had not gone

         19  through the ULURP process, and with all due

         20  consideration to my colleague Roseanne Haggerty, and

         21  we, for all of our affordable housing under the

         22  ULURP system, at this point that is the only

         23  apparent way we can see, other than the informal

         24  discussions that were talked about with the

         25  Commissioner, for any public review of where these
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          2  facilities are sited within our community, and we

          3  think something has to change.

          4                 Something very insidious we feel has

          5  happened in the last few years, and we've exhibited,

          6  and Mr. Leon referred to the don't fund shelter,

          7  here a non-profit organization, Rondaquin

          8  (phonetic), and a very adversarial relationship with

          9  our community, and they sited a 400-bed facility

         10  that was forced on our community because a rich and

         11  powerful neighborhood on the east side was able to

         12  force the closure of the Bellevue Homeless Shelter

         13  on First Avenue, and there was no public review. In

         14  fact, the only way -- and there wasn't even a

         15  variance required because of a quirk in the zoning

         16  code that allowed them to go ahead as of right.

         17                 This is a property acquired from a

         18  convicted felon, and involved $120 million contract

         19  over a 22-year period of time. Earlier in the

         20  discussion there was talk about the capital budget

         21  in monitoring that to see where these facilities go,

         22  but these projects are being built outside of the

         23  capital budget, and there is absolutely no public

         24  review that we can see in any of the discussions we

         25  heard this morning to stop those shelters from being
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          2  built. This is the first, and now within a short

          3  period of time, we're going from 200 beds to 757

          4  beds within a very small geographic area, and

          5  monitoring the capital budget is not really going to

          6  get any sort of public review.

          7                 I appreciate the Commission's

          8  commitment to dialogue with the elected officials,

          9  but many of these facilities we only have learned

         10  about because they go through a variance process,

         11  and, frankly, the variance process prohibits, or

         12  almost inhibits, any sort of public review or

         13  discussion of what the facilities are, or the

         14  over-concentration of those facilities within our

         15  community.

         16                 So, in summary I would ask that you

         17  really need to look at the capital budget. I don't

         18  think it's a real monitoring mechanism where these

         19  facilities are being placed.

         20                 I think the variance process is also

         21  full of loopholes that don't allow for any public

         22  review. And our community has a lot of these

         23  buildings, and this is where we're concerned. We've

         24  seen in two years going from 200 beds to 757 beds,

         25  we could easily go back to the days where we had
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          2  1,200 or 1,500 beds and no public discussion about

          3  where the facilities are cited.

          4                 And I think I heard comments earlier,

          5  Chairman, that you know, and many of us know, many

          6  within the agency know these facilities are coming

          7  into privately-owned property, they're known about

          8  long before they ever happen, and they come to the

          9  communities fait accompli and that I think breeds a

         10  lot of the resentment Councilman Perkins had spoke

         11  about earlier. And there needs to be something

         12  between the ULURP process, if that's deemed to be

         13  too restrictive, although it still befuddles me as a

         14  developer of affordable housing as to why every

         15  piece of affordable housing has to go through that

         16  process, and these special needs facilities seem to

         17  be exempted from that process for almost any sort of

         18  public review.

         19                 And, finally, the principals of fair

         20  share, which we were very active in developing many,

         21  many years ago, they need to be embedded into this

         22  process.

         23                 And, finally, we would request and

         24  urge that the Council do whatever it could to keep

         25  the Bellevue shelter open and operating until the
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          2  Department of Homeless Services finds some way of

          3  confirming where the additional 400 beds could go.

          4  Because there's nothing at this point that will

          5  prohibit a private operator with Adult Fund or

          6  someone else from opening another 400-bed shelter

          7  and facility within our community.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: I just want to

          9  note before our next witness that I appreciate your

         10  point about the problems of the current process,

         11  because it's funny how much process can occur around

         12  a relatively small item, and I dare say, you know,

         13  again, some of this Manhattan dynamic is at play

         14  here, as well. There are certain things that happen

         15  in Manhattan, they get ultra scrutiny that don't get

         16  anywhere near the same scrutiny in the outer

         17  boroughs. But nonetheless, you might have a huge

         18  amount of process and scrutiny around say a

         19  landmarks preservation issue even in Brooklyn, but

         20  something as huge as a siting of a shelter, as you

         21  said, because of loopholes in the process, can go

         22  with absolutely no public debate, and I think the

         23  message we're saying today and we're going to keep

         24  saying is, the public debate is good for the City,

         25  it's good for the process of figuring out how the
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          2  community can embrace something if it's appropriate,

          3  that the debate brings out the concerns, the

          4  concerns could be answered, it's part of the

          5  community being comfortable, or the concerns may

          6  prove that it has to be handled in a very different

          7  way, a different location, a different approach, a

          8  different size. But more to the core of this, trying

          9  to revive the debate around fair share because we're

         10  in a time that is requiring such an expansion of

         11  facilities.

         12                 So, I think what I'm hoping today

         13  starts is a process of saying nothing should be done

         14  without a local public debate and process. It's

         15  ultimately a backfire, the only way is to get the

         16  community in front of the process.

         17                 Thank you very much.

         18                 Mr. Foster.

         19                 MR. FOSTER: Yes. Good morning,

         20  Chairman, members of the Committee.

         21                 I have a suggestion about the

         22  homeless, about the Administration, about the

         23  bureaucracies. Unfortunately, the note I handed up

         24  to you, I gave the Committee the grand opportunity

         25  about the second item that I'm going to speak about
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          2  when the Commissioner of Homeless was present in the

          3  room.

          4                 But anyway, I found Councilman

          5  Perkins' questioning very astute, and there were

          6  flashes of brilliance, I'm sorry he's not present

          7  here now.

          8                 My suggestion about the homeless is

          9  what I believe of a significant proportion of the

         10  people know about, but due to political affiliations

         11  do not have the wherewithal to participate and to

         12  implement the process.

         13                 What am I speaking about? I'm

         14  speaking about, the homeless should represent

         15  themselves. One, the homeless single people should

         16  be left representatives from that group, and the

         17  homeless people from the families should elect

         18  representatives from that group and they should be

         19  permitted to participate in a horizontal position

         20  with any agency, with any administration, and/or

         21  bureaucracy to deal with the problem that affect

         22  them directly and indirectly.

         23                 This City, this Committee, this City

         24  is full of right people. I'm not saying, telling

         25  them anything they don't know. Where Bill Perkins
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          2  went, we want to go a little further. The

          3  constituencies, the most vulnerable people,

          4  vulnerable people in this City are not in timely

          5  receipt of the pertinent information that concerns

          6  them directly and indirectly, and that they further

          7  are not allowed to meaningfully, effectively,

          8  positively, constructively and productively

          9  participate in those things that concern them.

         10                 So, first of all, I want to say this

         11  is my first visit to your Committee, Chairman. I

         12  find it very interesting, the members are very

         13  astute, but the bottom line is, do we have doers on

         14  this Committee and this City?

         15                 Let me share this. This City is in a

         16  crisis, and it's not only because of the budget

         17  crisis. This City, or the underclass, is getting

         18  ready, they're in crisis and they're getting ready

         19  to implode into a disaster.

         20                 I come from, I work in the Councilman

         21  Perkins area. That area, all straters (sic) are in

         22  disaster. The statement I'm going to make now you're

         23  not going to believe, all should be declared a

         24  disaster area, for that significant proportion of

         25  people that are not being served.
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          2                 I will cut off because the hour grows

          3  late, so I respectfully submit that to the

          4  Committee.

          5                 Now let me tell you something to

          6  share with you about the Department of Homeless.

          7  This is a personal matter.

          8                 I came from a civil service place

          9  which contained some highly qualified people. We

         10  were invited down to the Department of Homeless to

         11  be interviewed for jobs that they were $180 per day.

         12  I mean top jobs that we were imminently qualified

         13  for, a lot of people were there, and the Department

         14  of Homeless got bogged down and then one of the

         15  administrators came out and said the interview was

         16  over, oh, we've already picked who we want.

         17                 I've been in this game since 1960,

         18  okay? I should be in retirement and all. I said you

         19  invited us here to be interviewed. Let me share this

         20  with you, you can't terminate an interview and you

         21  still have people that you haven't interviewed. We

         22  couldn't get any sense out of that, so we formed a

         23  little committee and was opposing that. We went

         24  through the process, they didn't want to hear it. I

         25  went to my Borough President, the Borough President
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          2  happened to be Virginia Fields. The Borough

          3  President sent letters, nothing came out of it.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Sorry, I'm

          5  going to ask you just to sum up here. No offense to

          6  you, but we've asked everyone to keep in limits and

          7  this is different than the topic of the hearing.

          8                 MR. FOSTER: So we forced them to

          9  interview all of us, and a lot of us were not hired.

         10                 We really need to look at all of the

         11  administrations, all of the bureaucracies, but this

         12  one in particular. It's a self-defeating kind of an

         13  agency. The agency needs to be closed down. That

         14  money used to build housing, and institutionalizing

         15  homelessness.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Let me finish

         17  up. Sir, I appreciate your testimony. Let me finish

         18  up by saying I think one thing that's been

         19  consistent today is not so much the concern about

         20  the moral feelings of the people at the agency, I

         21  think they are trying to do the right thing, but the

         22  concern about how the bureaucracy of this agency and

         23  others it works with is keeping a certain amount of

         24  distance from the community, and I think your

         25  experience may show another version of that.
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          2                 I think the bottom line is what we're

          3  saying to homeless services, and we're going to keep

          4  saying it, including at the May 19th budget hearing,

          5  is to realize that the community should be

          6  considered, the friend and the ally should be

          7  considered the place that we're trying to serve. We

          8  don't need people coming in as an occupying force

          9  and creating a negative impact on a community. In

         10  fact, most communities are quite reasonable and fair

         11  if you bring them a reasonable and fair proposal. So

         12  that's the message today.

         13                 I want to thank the panel. I want to

         14  thank everyone who has been patiently here today. I

         15  think it was a very productive hearing. And this

         16  hearing of the General Welfare Committee is now

         17  adjourned.

         18                 (Hearing concluded at 1:05 p.m.)
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